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Court-appointed Lead Plaintiff the Arkansas Teacher Retirement System (“ATRS” or
“Lead Plaintiff”), by its counsel, brings this federal securities class action on behalf of itself and
other entities who purchased or otherwise acquired the publicly traded securities of Virtus
Investment Partners, Inc. (defined below as “VIP”, and, together with its affiliates and subsidiaries,
referred to herein as “Virtus” or the “Company”) between January 25, 2013 and May 11, 2015 (the
“Class Period”), and were damaged thereby.
I.

INTRODUCTION
1.

This case is about a mutual fund company (Virtus) that falsely marketed its flagship

product based on a purported blockbuster performance record that in reality never existed. During
and before the Class Period, Virtus and its senior executives told investors that the proprietary
trading strategy underlying its AlphaSector funds had an astounding historical track record.
2.

According to Defendants, from April 2001 to September 2008 the AlphaSector

strategy had achieved astonishing returns approximately 480% greater than the S&P 500 index.
This was false. In reality, as Defendants knew, the strategy underlying the AlphaSector funds did
not even exist prior to September 2008, and the funds’ purported track record was fabricated using
back-tested hypothetical results that were not only falsely presented to investors but were
themselves grossly inflated.
3.

Defendants profited enormously from their misrepresentations.

Their false

statements and omissions led to an influx of billions of dollars from unknowing investors and
fueled an astonishing spike in Virtus’s revenues and assets. This, in turn, caused a correspondingly
sharp rise in the Company’s stock price, which soared from $10 per share in January 2009 to more
than $247 per share by mid-2013. When the truth finally emerged, Virtus’s stock price fell nearly
53%, causing hundreds of millions of dollars in losses to investors. Investors are now entitled to
recover from the individuals and entities responsible for their losses.
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Background And Overview
4.

In January 2009, in the wake of the 2008 financial crisis that took a heavy toll on

many financial institutions, Virtus became a publicly traded company through an initial public
offering (“IPO”). Virtus’s stock began trading at $10 per share and shortly thereafter the Company
announced a per share impairment charge of $91.75. The Company needed to turn its fortunes
around fast if it was to succeed in the ultra-competitive mutual fund industry.
5.

It appeared that Virtus’s fortunes had changed in the fall of 2009 when it began to

market a new family of funds called “AlphaSector.” Virtus offered the AlphaSector funds through
a co-advisory relationship with a recently formed investment advisory firm, F-Squared
Investments, Inc. (“F-Squared”). The AlphaSector strategy had been developed by F-Squared in
conjunction with a then twenty year old college intern and purported to use a proprietary strategy
that for years had far outperformed the S&P 500. For instance, one of the AlphaSector indexes
boasted having a loss in 2008 of only -1.13% at the time when the market faced one of the greatest
financial crises in history and the S&P 500 fell 37%, wiping out many investors and leading to the
collapse of some of the most venerable financial institutions in the world.
6.

Virtus began to aggressively market the AlphaSector funds under its own name

emphasizing this purported performance record.

In marketing materials and other public

statements Virtus highlighted AlphaSector’s supposed outsized returns going back to April 2001,
and presented them as actual results achieved through managing real client assets from an
“inception date [of] April 2001.”
7.

This information was critically important to potential investors. As described by a

former wholesaler who was employed by Virtus during the Class Period and was personally
involved in marketing the AlphaSector funds, this track record was the funds’ central selling point,

2
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and “everything was built on the track record.” Indeed, this former Virtus employee provided CoLead Counsel with a VIP marketing document dated January 31, 2013 that is branded with the VIP
logo on the first page and expressly touts AlphaSector’s past performance record. See Exhibit A
(Virtus Investment Partners Prospectus dated January 31, 2013). According to this former Virtus
employee, the VIP prospectus attached here as Exhibit A was one of the documents used by
Virtus’s sales force to market the AlphaSector funds during the Class Period.
8.

This former employee also stated that the Virtus salesforce was trained to direct

potential investors to the specific pages in the document referencing AlphaSector’s performance
track record because that information “closed the sale.” See Exhibit A at 60-61. These pages state
that the AlphaSector “inception date is April 1, 2001,” and highlight the supposed “performance
of AlphaSector . . . as compared with the performance of the S&P 500 Index” for periods prior to
October 2008. This same information was so critical to Virtus that it also was incorporated into
the registration statements VIP filed with the Securities Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
9.

To allay any investor concerns about the legitimacy of the AlphaSector track

record, VIP assured investors that it had performed extensive due diligence on F-Squared, stating
in numerous SEC filings that “the identification and selection of investment managers, both
affiliates and subadvisers, is critical to the [Virtus] business.”1 The Company also represented that
it engaged in “rigorous monitoring” of its sub-advisors, had a “disciplined approach to
performance oversight,” and selected only “high-caliber managers.” Well aware of the importance
of the AlphaSector strategy to its overall success, Virtus even specifically highlighted F-Squared
as an example of its supposedly rigorous process for selecting investment managers, claiming

1

All emphasis added unless otherwise noted.
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during an investor conference in March 2013 that the Company “identif[ies] high-quality teams”
and pointed to its “success with [selecting] subadviser F-Squared.”
10.

Virtus’s public representations had their desired effect. Between the fall of 2009

and 2013, the assets in Virtus’s AlphaSector funds grew from zero to $11.4 billion. The growth
of these funds – which charged the highest management fees of all of Virtus’s funds – drove a
huge increase in the Company’s revenues and profits.

From 2010 to 2013, Virtus’s revenues

increased from $117 million to $389 million. The impact on Virtus’s stock price was even more
stark. From its initial offering price of $10 per share on January 2, 2009, Virtus’s stock price rose
to $247.12 per share on May 17, 2013 – an increase of over 2,350%. Analysts noted that
AlphaSector was Virtus’s flagship product and “generate[d] the lion’s share of the firm’s overall
mutual fund flows” and revenues.
11.

Unfortunately for investors, Virtus’s representations regarding the AlphaSector

funds and the Company’s representations regarding its supposedly “rigorous” process of selecting
and overseeing investment managers were false. As detailed below, from the outset of its
relationship with F-Squared, Virtus ignored numerous warning signs and red flags regarding FSquared. If Defendants had actually performed any serious due diligence (as they claimed to have
done), they would have learned that the AlphaSector track record was utterly false. Far from
outperforming the S&P 500 from 2001 through September 2008, the AlphaSector strategy did not
even exist until October 2008, and its purported performance record was a fiction constructed by
“back-testing” hypothetical results. Moreover, the back-testing itself was performed inaccurately,
so even the back-tested results were grossly inflated.

4
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The December 14, 2012 Boca Meeting
12.

There can be no dispute that by the end of 2012, Virtus’s senior executives knew

that the Company’s representations about the AlphaSector funds were false.
13.

On December 14, 2012, Virtus held an internal conference for its wholesalers in

Boca Raton, Florida, with Virtus’s CEO Defendant George Alyward attending by phone and
Virtus’s Executive Vice Presidents and Defendants Jeff Cerutti and Frank Waltman attending in
person. During that conference, the founder of F-Squared (Howard Present) gave a presentation
in which he touted AlphaSector’s supposedly live performance track record. Following the
presentation, however, Virtus’s Vice President of Product Management, Peter Batchelar (the
executive who had been responsible for conducting due diligence on F-Squared), stood up and told
the room not to heed Present’s statements about the performance track record because F-Squared’s
previous returns were in reality based on the back-testing of hypothetical assets. According to
individuals who attended the conference, Virtus’s senior management sat “stone faced” following
Batchelar’s remarks, while other employees in the room were shocked to hear that AlphaSector’s
primary selling point was false.
14.

Incredibly, Virtus continued to sell its money-making AlphaSector funds using the

same marketing material and making the same knowing misrepresentations. On January 25, 2013,
Virtus filed a registration statement and accompanying prospectus with the SEC containing the
exact same language found in past prospectuses highlighting AlphaSector’s pre-October 2008
performance record. The registration statement was signed by Virtus’s Chief Executive Officer
Alyward, supposedly reviewed in accordance with Company and regulatory due diligence
standards by Executive Vice President Waltman, and used to market the AlphaSector funds by
Virtus’s sales force, which was overseen by Executive Vice President Cerutti.

5
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15.

In the twelve months after December 2012, as Virtus continued to market the

AlphaSector funds based on multiple false statements about its track record and the Company’s
due diligence into F-Squared, the funds’ assets under management more than doubled, increasing
from approximately $5 billion to more than $11 billion. Defendants realized enormous profits and
revenues from this increase. Among other things, Defendants leveraged Virtus’s growth to
conduct a secondary offering of common stock based on the same misrepresentations.
Specifically, on September 13, 2013, Virtus raised more than $160 million from public investors
by issuing and selling 1.1 million shares of its common stock at an offering price of $155 per share.
Virtus Learns That The SEC Is Investigating F-Squared
16.

In early October 2013, F-Squared’s founder Howard Present gave another

presentation, this time in Chicago, to a Virtus-only crowd of senior managers and advisors. During
this meeting, Present stated that F-Squared was being investigated by the SEC regarding the truth
of its touted 2001 to 2008 performance records.
17.

News of an SEC investigation into F-Squared was not publicly known at the time

and caused Virtus to go into full damage control mode. According to the former Virtus employee
referenced above, Defendants Alyward and Cerutti quickly arranged an all hands on deck
conference call where employees were told by Cerutti and others to “destroy any materials they
had” relating to the supposed track record of the AlphaSector funds. This former employee stated
that what followed was a “scorched earth” approach to destroying documents, including emails,
relating to Virtus’s marketing of AlphaSector in reliance on its purported past performance track
record. Virtus’s management also acted to quietly eliminate references to AlphaSector’s track
record from publicly-filed documents. For example, it was deleted from Virtus’s October 4, 2013
prospectus without any explanation or mention.

6

Case 1:15-cv-01249-WHP Document 33 Filed 08/21/15 Page 10 of 139

18.

Shockingly, although Virtus claimed that it conducted “rigorous” monitoring of its

subadvisers and enforced the highest standards of discipline and quality, Defendants continued to
allow F-Squared to manage billions of dollars of Virtus’s clients’ assets as if nothing was wrong.
Virtus did not alert its investors to the critical fact that the Company had falsely marketed its
flagship funds for years; Virtus did not take any steps to remove F-Squared from its supposedly
“high quality” group of sub-advisors; and Virtus did not even investigate the allegations against
F-Squared (which Virtus in fact already knew to be accurate). Virtus management instead chose
to ignore the issue, claiming to employees that this was an “F-Squared issue, not a Virtus issue”
and “all the mutual funds were started in 2009 and later.”
19.

Virtus’s senior executives, however, knew that trouble was on the horizon and

began to unload their own holdings of Virtus stock. Defendant Cerutti for instance, sold more than
34% of his Virtus stock between June 2013 and March 2014, realizing profits for himself of more
than $2.2 million. Likewise, Defendant Waltman, between March 2013 and March 2014, sold
28% of his personal holdings for a personal profit of more than $1.6 million.
The Truth Emerges
20.

Investors eventually learned the truth. On September 3, 2014, news agencies

reported that F-Squared had received a “Wells Notice” from the SEC regarding its AlphaSector
funds. While Virtus continued to deny that the SEC investigation could impact Virtus, this news
caused the Company’s share price to decline by $37.33, or 16.7%. Then, on December 22, 2014,
the SEC announced that it had formally charged F-Squared and its founder for fraud and various
related violations of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 and that F-Squared had reached a
simultaneous settlement with the SEC related to those charges. In connection with the settlement,
F-Squared “admit[ted]” to “willfully violat[ing]” the federal securities laws and, notably, “aid[ing]

7
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and abett[ing] certain [as yet unnamed] mutual fund companies” to violate federal securities laws.
F-Squared agreed to pay $35 million in disgorgement and civil monetary penalties.
21.

Despite Defendants’ longstanding knowledge of F-Squared’s false representations

and their direction to employees to destroy relevant documents, they continued to tell investors
that the F-Squared issues would not impact the Company. For instance, in its 2014 Form 10-K
filed March 2, 2015, Virtus claimed “that the outcomes of its legal and regulatory proceedings are
not likely, either individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on its
consolidated financial condition.”

This was false and misleading and omitted material

information.
22.

In its Form 10-Q filed May 11, 2015, Virtus was finally forced to admit that the

SEC was investigating Virtus regarding “whether the Company had violated securities laws or
regulations with respect to F-Squared’s historical performance information.” In response to this
news, Virtus stock plunged 13% in a single trading day.
23.

Virtus has since taken a reserve of $16.5 million in connection with the ongoing

SEC investigation into the Company, fired F-Squared, been forced to re-brand its flagship
AlphaSector funds under a new name, and seen a reduction of more than 15% in the assets under
management in its former AlphaSector funds (with redemptions continuing). Analysts have
estimated that Virtus could pay the SEC tens of millions of dollars in costs, penalties and
disgorgement relating to the SEC investigation and Virtus’s legal and regulatory troubles remain
ongoing.
II.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
24.

This Complaint asserts claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act,

§ 78j(b) and 78t(a), and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, including SEC Rule
10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (“Rule 10b-5”).
8
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25.

This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action under Section 27

of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa, and 28 U.S.C. § 1331, because this is a civil action arising
under the laws of the United States.
26.

Venue is proper in this District under Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §

78aa, and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b). Many of the acts and transactions that give rise to the violations
of law alleged herein, including the dissemination to the public of materially untrue and misleading
mutual fund advertising materials, press releases and filings with the SEC, occurred in this District,
where the Company’s securities actively traded on the NASDAQ Stock Market.
27.

In connection with the acts alleged in this complaint, Defendants, directly or

indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including, but not limited
to, the mails, interstate telephone communications, and the facilities of the national securities
markets.
III.

THE PARTIES
A.

Lead Plaintiff

28.

Plaintiff Arkansas Teacher Retirement System (“ATRS” or “Lead Plaintiff”) is a

public pension system that has been providing retirement benefits to Arkansas’s public school and
education employees since 1937. ATRS manages approximately $15 billion in assets for the
benefit of its members. As set forth in the certification already on file with the Court, ATRS
purchased Virtus common stock during the Class Period and suffered damages as a result of the
violations alleged herein. On June 9, 2015, this Court appointed ATRS as the Lead Plaintiff in
this litigation.
B.

Defendants

29.

Defendant Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. (“VIP”) is incorporated under the laws

of Delaware, headquartered in Hartford, Connecticut, and transacts business in this district, in part,
9
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through an office at 1540 Broadway, New York, New York. VIP’s stock trades publicly on the
NASDAQ stock exchange under the symbol “VRTS.” VIP also solely owns and controls Virtus
Investment Advisors Inc. (“VIA”), an SEC-registered investment adviser with several of the same
officers and directors as Virtus and acted as the investment adviser for the Virtus AlphaSector
Funds. VIA is also the investment adviser for Defendant Virtus Opportunities Trust (defined
below as “VOT”), an SEC-registered investment company controlled by VIP, which filed
registration statements, prospectuses for the Virtus AlphaSector Funds, and issued the Virtus
AlphaSector mutual fund shares to the public.
30.

Defendant George R. Aylward is and at all relevant times was the President, Chief

Executive Officer and Director of VIP and certified the truth and accuracy of VIP’s public filings
throughout the Class Period. He was also the President, Chairman and Director and a control
person of VIA and the President and a Trustee of VOT. As President and a Trustee of VOT,
Aylward co-signed the sub-advisory agreement between VIA and F-Squared, was required to
oversee Virtus’s AlphaSector investments, and signed VOT’s registration statements and
prospectuses throughout the Class Period.
31.

Defendant Michael A. Angerthal is and at all relevant times was the Executive Vice

President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of VIP. As the CFO of VIP, he certified the truth
and accuracy of its public filings throughout the Class Period. He was also the Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer, Director and a control person of VIA.
32.

Defendant Jeffrey T. Cerutti is the former Executive Vice President and Head of

Distribution for VIP and the former President of VP Distributors, LLC, the underwriter for VOT
and a 100% wholly owned subsidiary of VIP. Cerutti commenced employment with the Company
effective June 1, 2010 and abruptly resigned from his position effective April 1, 2014. The

10
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Company’s January 25, 2013 Registration Statement names Cerutti as the President of VP
Distributors.
33.

Defendant Francis G. Waltman is and at all relevant times was the Executive Vice

President and Head of Product Management of VIP. Defendant Waltman was also the Executive
Vice President, Director and a control person of VIA. As the Senior Vice President and control
person of VOT, Waltman co-signed the subadvisory agreement between VIA and F-Squared.
34.

Defendants George R. Aylward, Michael A. Angerthal, Jeffrey T. Cerutti, and

Frank G. Waltman, are collectively referred to as the “Executive Defendants.” The Executive
Defendants, because of their positions within VIP and affiliated companies, possessed the power
and authority to control the contents of Virtus’s filings with the SEC, its press releases, its
presentations to securities analysts and institutional investors, and its other public statements. Each
of the Executive Defendants was provided with copies of the Company’s reports and other public
statements alleged herein to be misleading prior to, or shortly after, their issuance and had the
ability and opportunity to prevent their issuance or cause them to be corrected. Because of their
positions and access to material non-public information available to them, each Executive
Defendant knew that the adverse facts specified herein had not been disclosed to, and were being
concealed from, the public, and that the positive representations which were being made were
materially false and misleading when made.
35.

Defendant Virtus Opportunities Trust (“VOT”) is an open-end management

investment company registered with the SEC under the Investment Company Act of 1940.
Defendant Aylward is a senior officer and trustee of VOT, and Waltman is a senior officer of VOT.
36.

The Executive Defendants, VIP, and VOT are collectively referred to herein as the

“Defendants.”

11
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C.

Relevant Non-party

37.

During the Class Period, Virtus marketed and sold its flagship AlphaSector funds

in connection with a sub-advisory agreement with F-Squared. F-Squared was founded in 2006 by
Howard Present, and is an investment adviser with its headquarters in Wellesley, Massachusetts.
F-Squared, in conjunction with a college student who in 2008 was 20 years old, developed the
proprietary trading model underlying the AlphaSector funds marketed and sold by Virtus during
the Class Period.
38.

On December 22, 2014, the SEC announced that it had charged F-Squared and

Howard Present with a host of violations of federal securities laws related to Virtus’s AlphaSector
funds, and that F-Squared had simultaneously reached a settlement with the SEC where it admitted
intentional wrongdoing, and “violations of the federal securities laws.” F-Squared also admitted
that Virtus’s AlphaSector funds were intentionally marketed based on a false, materially inflated
performance track record. F-Squared also admitted to violating Sections 204, 206(1), 206(2),
206(4), 206(4)-(8), and 207 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”), which
prohibit “publish[ing], circulat[ing], or distribut[ing] . . . untrue statement[s] of material fact” in
mutual fund filings and advertisements. F-Squared further admitted to “willfully violat[ing]
Section 34(b) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (“Investment Company Act”) because it
“willfully aided and abetted . . . certain mutual funds sub-advised by F-Squared” to make “untrue
or misleading statement[s] of material fact in [] registration statement[]s” and other documents.
39.

In addition to making the admissions described above and other admissions, F-

Squared agreed to pay $35 million to resolve the SEC’s charges. The SEC has announced that its
investigation into these matters is continuing and, as described below, the SEC is currently
investigating Virtus for its role in marketing the AlphaSector funds and – spurred by the SEC’s
investigation – Virtus has finally terminated its relationship with F-Squared.
12

Case 1:15-cv-01249-WHP Document 33 Filed 08/21/15 Page 16 of 139

IV.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS
A. Virtus’s Business Is Struggling as it Seeks a Successful Product
40.

In late 2008, the Phoenix Companies, Inc. (“Phoenix”), a life insurance and annuity

company, desperately needed to get rid of a problem child – its wholly owned subsidiary Virtus.
As investment values dropped and clients fled in the wake of the financial crises, Virtus’s assets
had declined by 50% in 2008.
41.

On December 31, 2008, Phoenix launched Virtus as an independent public

company through an IPO on January 2, 2009. Virtus’s shares began trading on the NASDAQ
Global Market under the symbol “VRTS,” at $10 dollars per share, giving the Company a market
capitalization of approximately $57 million. A few months later, Virtus reported in its 2008 Form
10-K filed April 10, 2009 that it would be forced to take a $91.75 per share impairment charge
which was over 800% of its total market capitalization.
42.

It was plain by this point that Virtus desperately needed to turn around its fortunes

if it was going to succeed in the mutual fund industry. Virtus executives understood better than
anyone that the mutual fund business was cut-throat and highly competitive. Because Virtus was
tiny compared to the larger mutual fund companies, and because of its precarious financial
position, Virtus had to quickly find products that trounced the competition and which its sales
force could market aggressively. As Virtus’s CEO Aylward noted in public statements -- “Of
course the primary driver of success in the business is really investment performance, products
must have solid performance to attract and retain assets.”
B. Virtus Partners With F-Squared
43.

In 2006, Howard Present co-founded F-Squared to develop and market a

quantitative-based product called “AlphaCycle.” According to the SEC’s Complaint against FSquared dated December 22, 2014 (“SEC Complaint”), F-Squared had failed to turn a profit by
13
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2008. Indeed, as of July 15, 2008, F-Squared had received only $189 of AlphaCycle fees for the
calendar year, while suffering a $609,000 net loss. By mid-2008, F-Squared was struggling to
meet its payroll.
44.

In early June 2008, Present had several discussions with David Morton, a wealth

advisor from the Boston area, hoping to interest him in a joint venture using AlphaCycle. Morton
was not impressed, AlphaCycle offered nothing promising, but he was interested in pitching a
sector rotation strategy which intrigued Present. Morton told Present that he had a 20 year-old
college intern, Corey Hoffstein, who was working on various quantitative projects in the
development phase, including a momentum-based algorithm that analyzed price trend and
volatility data to generate buy/sell signals for investments that would be licensed through a
company founded by Morton and Hoffstein called Newfound Research. These discussions
eventually led Present and F-Squared to develop a supposedly proprietary strategy called
“AlphaSector,” and F-Squared entered into a licensing agreement with Newfound Research to
implement that strategy.
45.

On February 6, 2009, F-Squared contacted Virtus about AlphaSector, claiming that

it was a “proprietary analytical engine” that had “consistently outperformed the benchmark S&P
500 since its inception in April, 2001.” The purported track record of the AlphaSector strategy
was remarkably better than the competition, with F-Squared claiming that it performed better than
99% of its peer group.
46.

Soon thereafter, Virtus began to consider entering into a sub-advisory relationship

with F-Squared in order to market the AlphaSector funds. Before it could do so, however, Virtus
was under a strict obligation to conduct a rigorous diligence process to confirm F-Squared’s claims
about AlphaSector’s performance. Section 15(c) of the Investment Company Act states:

14
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It shall be the duty of the directors of a registered investment company to
request and evaluate, and the duty of an investment adviser to such company
to furnish, such information as may reasonably be necessary to evaluate the
terms of any contract whereby a person undertakes regularly to serve or act
as investment adviser of such company.
47.

Virtus was also required by law to hire a sub-adviser pursuant to written contract

and to oversee and approve that contract on an ongoing basis. Section 15(a)(2) of the Investment
Company Act states:
It shall be unlawful for any person to serve or act as investment adviser of
a registered investment company, except pursuant to a written contract,
which contract, whether with such registered company or with an
investment adviser of such registered company, has been approved by the
vote of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of such registered
company, and. . . shall continue in effect for a period more than two years
from the date of its execution, only so long as such continuance is
specifically approved at least annually by the board of directors or by vote
of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of such company.
48.

SEC Rule 270.34b-1 likewise imposes strict requirements on the presentation of

any investment performance or comparison to indexes in advertising and sales materials, so that
the advertisement is not “deemed to be misleading.” Other SEC Rules, such as Rule 275.205-1,
provides precise instructions for how an “investment record” and “investment performance” can
be calculated. Accordingly, in order to assess the accuracy and legal compliance of any past track
record represented by F-Squared, Virtus was required to analyze and understand the source of the
AlphaSector strategy’s returns from its inception date.
49.

Indeed, recognizing the importance that its own investors placed on the Company’s

ability to pick quality mangers and sub-advisers and to monitor them diligently, VIP assured
investors in its SEC filings and elsewhere that it closely monitored the quality of its
subadvisers. For instance, in its Form 10-K filed April 10, 2009, Virtus stated “[w]e monitor the
quality of the managers’ products by assessing their performance, style, consistency and the
discipline with which they apply their investment process.”
15
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conference call on February 5, 2010, Defendant CEO Alyward noted that “[o]ur product
management and development capabilities are a core part of the business. . . . We monitor and
manage our products continuously and we are willing to make manager changes when appropriate
to improve performance.”
50.

According to the SEC’s complaint, on September 16, 2009, Present told Virtus:

“The index is based on a live strategy, with live client assets that was run since inception in 2001.”
Though the Defendants were required to rigorously review these statements and other background
information to assess the validity of F-Squared’s investment methodology and assertions regarding
AlphaSector’s astonishing purported track record, there is no indication that the Defendants did
anything to verify this information.
51.

A former Virtus employee who worked in the group, Performance Operations, and

reported directly to Defendant Waltman, noted that, typically, Virtus used an array of methods to
conduct due diligence -- from the simple, such as interviewing the investment managers -- to the
complex, such as recalculating or reengineering data. This former employee recalled that ongoing
performance diligence was presented to VOT’s Board of Trustees each quarter and senior
management, including Defendants CEO Alyward and Waltman were in attendance when these
quarterly reports were given.
52.

According to this employee, however, Batchelar and Waltman were responsible for

conducting the initial due diligence on AlphaSector before it was adopted by Virtus. Because
Waltman prepared the diligence, was Senior Vice President of VOT, and regularly attended VOT
quarterly Board meetings discussing fund due diligence, it is very likely Waltman presented the
AlphaSector diligence to VOT’s Board of Trustees.

16
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53.

After this brief period of so-called “due diligence,” Virtus quickly agreed to market

and sell the AlphaSector funds under the Virtus imprint. On September 29, 2009 – just thirteen
days after receiving a vague unsupported statement from F-Squared about the past track record of
AlphaSector – Virtus entered into a subadvisory agreement with F-Squared signed by Aylward,
Waltman, and Present. The subadvisory agreement states that:
The Adviser [VIA] . . . hereby employs F-Squared Investments, Inc. to
furnish investment advisory services to the Fund [VOT] related to [the]
AlphaSector Rotation Strategy. . . . In providing advisory services to the
Designated Series [the Virtus AlphaSector funds], the Subadviser [FSquared] shall be subject to . . . the supervision and control of the Trustees
of the Fund [VOT] and to the instructions from the Adviser [VIA].
54.

To officially launch these funds, on October 5, 2009, Virtus issued a press release

titled in bold letters – “Virtus Introduces a Dynamic Approach to Equity Investing: AlphaSector
Rotation Strategy Available in Two Funds.” The press release which was filed in a Form 8-K with
the SEC went on to explain the sector rotation strategy and how the AlphaSector indexes influence
the Virtus AlphaSector funds:
The Virtus AlphaSector Rotation Fund will track F-Squared Investments’
AlphaSector™ Rotation Index (ASRX), while 75 percent of the Virtus
AlphaSector Allocation Fund will track that same index, with the remaining
25 percent allocated to a Virtus enhanced core fixed income strategy.
AlphaSector is an “active index” that is constructed exclusively from the
nine Select Sector SPDR exchange-traded funds, which represent the
sectors of the S&P 500, plus an ETF that tracks short-term Treasuries. The
strategy is designed to make longer-term allocations among the S&P 500
sectors but, in periods of market weakness, to dynamically allocate to the
short-term Treasury ETF.
55.

Accordingly, Virtus would ensure that the AlphaSector funds asset allocation and

performance would 100% “track” the AlphaSector indexes. Because the success of the Virtus
AlphaSector funds was completely linked to the AlphaSector indexes, the past performance of the
indexes was critical to investors deciding whether or not to invest in the funds. In the press release,
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Defendant Waltman directly pointed to the AlphaSector track record which had been touted in so
many emails by Present but remained un-researched by Virtus, stating “the AlphaSector Indexbased funds offer an uncomplicated approach to equity investing that is designed to control risk in
down markets, while participating or outperforming in up markets.”
C. Virtus Touts AlphaSector’s Historic Track Record
56.

Defendants recognized that the AlphaSector funds were not simply a product, but

a story. The story behind the AlphaSector funds was that they were highly effective in protecting
investments in down markets while simultaneously providing a track record of phenomenal returns
greatly exceeding the S&P 500 going back to 2001. Indeed, the funds’ supposed past performance
record was expressly highlighted in documents filed with the SEC. For example, in its January
25, 2013 Registration Statement, Virtus presented the following information on AlphaSector:
The AlphaSector Rotation Index (ASRX) . . . is an equal weighted index comprised
of a limited number of sector-based exchange-traded funds (“ETFs”). . . . The ETFs
are selected monthly based on the output of a proprietary analytical model that
evaluates sector trends while adjusting for changing levels of volatility. The Index
is constituted to focus on avoiding losses of its underlying ETFs, and has the ability
to move defensively to large “cash” positions in periods of broader market
weakness. The tables below show performance of the AlphaSector Rotation Index
as compared with the performance of the S&P 500 Index.
Annual Returns
(calendar year)
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Average Annual
Total Return

1 Year

AlphaSector
Rotation Index
9.38%
13.89%
5.65%
14.40%
14.18%
-8.54%
25.37%
15.50%
1.35%
14.47%
5 Years

18

10 Years

S&P 500
Index
28.71%
10.86%
4.93%
15.78%
5.49%
-37.00%
26.46%
15.06%
2.11%
16.00%
Since Inception of
AlphaSector
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AlphaSector
Rotation Index
S&P 500 Index

14.47%

8.97%

10.20%

Rotation Index
(4/1/01)1
7.90%

16.00%

1.66%

7.10%

3.78%

The Premium AlphaSector Index (ASRP) . . . is an equal weighted index comprised
of a limited number of sector-based exchange traded funds (“ETFs”). . . . The ETFs
are selected weekly based on the output of a proprietary analytical model that
evaluates sector trends while adjusting for changing levels of volatility. The Index
is constituted to focus on avoiding losses of its underlying ETFs, and has the ability
to move defensively to large “cash” positions in periods of broader market
weakness. The tables below show performance of the Premium AlphaSector Index
as compared with the performance of the S&P 500 Index.
Annual Returns
(calendar year)
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Average Annual
Total Return

(1)

Premium
AlphaSector Index
24.07%
14.90%
6.83%
16.81%
14.86%
-1.13%
32.22%
17.66%
1.68%
13.90%

S&P 500
Index
28.71%
10.86%
4.93%
15.78%
5.49%
-37.00%
26.46%
15.06%
2.11%
16.00%

1 Year

5 Years

10 Years

Premium
AlphaSector Index

13.90%

12.24%

13.79%

Since Inception of
Premium
AlphaSector Index
(4/1/01)
12.65%

S&P 500 Index

16.00%

1.66%

7.10%

3.78%

The Index Inception date is April 1, 2001[.]
57.

The information set forth above was critical to investors. It purported to describe

the actual “performance” track record of the AlphaSector indexes as compared to the S&P 500
index for a period of nearly a decade. The indexes show an “inception date” of “April 1, 2001.”
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The average annual total returns for the Premium AlphaSector Index and AlphaSector Rotation
Index were purported to be an incredible 12.65% and 7.90% (respectively) since their “inception
date” as opposed to only 3.78% for the S&P 500. The Premium AlphaSector Index is shown
having a loss in 2008 of only -1.13% at the time when the market faced one of the greatest financial
crises in history and the S&P 500 is shown having a loss of -37.00%. Investors reading this
information would see that in a time of market turmoil that the AlphaSector indexes were not only
a safe-haven but delivered returns that far surpassed the competition, with compounding returns
that were 480% higher than the S&P 500.
58.

Similar information was displayed in Virtus’s Registration Statements filed with

the SEC on January 28, 2010, January 27, 2011, January 27, 2012, Prospectuses filed December
8, 2009, February 6, 2012, and January 31, 2013, and Summary Prospectuses filed with the SEC
on February 2, 2010, February 2, 2011, February 2, 2012, January 31, 2013, and June 13, 2013
which incorporated this information by reference.
59.

The importance that Virtus placed on this information is further demonstrated by

the fact that Virtus made each of these documents available through VIP’s website, where they
could easily be accessed by investors or other interested market observers.
60.

Moreover, Virtus’s salesforce repeatedly and aggressively used this information to

market AlphaSector funds to investors. At the height of Virtus’s success, there were over 60 Virtus
wholesalers devoted to selling Virtus’s products. Hired in 2010 as Executive Vice President and
Head of Distribution, Defendant Cerutti was head of the entire Virtus salesforce and one of the top
five highest paid executives in the Company.
61.

According to the former Virtus wholesaler referenced above wholesalers were

instructed by Cerutti, Batchelar and others to emphasize AlphaSector’s 2001 to 2008 performance
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data discussed above and to stress to current and potential clients that this track record was live
tested, i.e. actual money was actively managed during this time period using this strategy and
actual trades were made based on this strategy and actual investors benefitted from the strategy.
62.

According to this former employee, the wholesalers were “instructed to show what

the funds did in 2001 to 2008” and emphasize that they “dramatically outperformed the S&P 500.”
When asked how important it was in client pitches to emphasize this information, the employee
stated that -- “it closed the sale” and “everything was built on the [2001-2008] track record.”
D. Virtus Touts Its Ability to Select and Monitor Subadvisers Such as FSquared, and the Technical Prowess of AlphaSector’s Strategy
63.

Virtus knew that investors who purchased VIP’s publicly traded securities viewed

the Company’s ability to pick quality managers and sub-advisers and to effectively monitor them
was critical. For this reason, VIP repeatedly represented in its SEC filings and other public
statements that it had stringent selection criteria and exercised rigorous diligence and monitoring
of its supposedly “high-quality” sub-advisers. For example, in its 2012 Form 10-K filed March
1, 2013, the Company stated:
We monitor the quality of the affiliated managers and unaffiliated
subadvisers products by assessing their performance, style, consistency and
the discipline with which they apply their investment process.
64.

In a Citigroup U.S. Financial Services Conference dated March 5, 2013, Defendant

Alyward stated:
As a multi-manager, the identification and selection of investment
managers, both affiliates and subadvisers, is critical to the business. We
have been successful because we identify high-quality teams with the
distinctive strategies and carefully consider the cultural fit of the manager.
While we start by identifying the capabilities we’re looking for and then
identify the best manager to provide the strategy, whether it’s from an
existing affiliated manager, a current subadviser or a new manager. We have
been successful developing partnerships by using this focused approach.
Our relationship with Vontobel, for example, began with 2 funds in less
than $150 million of assets, and we’ve grown that to over $9 billion. We
21
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had a similar success with another subadviser, F-Squared, which began
managing 1 fund for us 3 years ago, and we have sold more than $6 billion
in their strategies to date.
65.

According to the former employee who worked in the Performance Operations

group, discussed above, although the Product Management group, which was headed by Defendant
Waltman, primarily performed the due diligence into products prior to their offering by Virtus,
they did not typically perform due diligence into their ongoing performance, which was handled
by Performance Operations. In the case of the AlphaSector funds, however, the ongoing diligence
and the “bottom line assessment” of the quality of the product and its performance was “dictated”
by Batchelar and Waltman. This appeared to the former employee as “slightly unusual” because
past performance was typically assessed based on a set of quantitative performance analytics that
were worked out by Product Management and Performance Operations together, rather than
dictated by Batchelar and Waltman. The former employee believed that Performance Operations
was the group better equipped to handle ongoing diligence of AlphaSector because Performance
Operations was more quantitatively focused.
66.

Just as Virtus and its management continuously hyped the selection and continued

monitoring of its subadvisors such as F-Squared, it also emphasized the supposed technical
proficiency of the model used to generate AlphaSector’s track record. Indeed, Virtus’s very first
press release, dated October 5, 2009, touting AlphaSector noted that the indexes are based on
“signals generated by F-Squared’s proprietary quantitative model.”

Virtus’s Registration

Statement filed with the SEC on January 25, 2013 and its accompanying Prospectus filed January
31, 2013 noted that:
The AlphaSectorSM Rotation Index (ASRX) is an active public index
published by NASDAQ and designed to outperform the S&P 500® Index
while also seeking to manage downside risk and lower overall volatility. It
is an equal weighted index comprised of a limited number of sector-based
exchange-traded funds (“ETFs”) and a short-term Treasury bond ETF as a
22
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cash proxy. The ETFs are selected monthly based on the output of a
proprietary analytical model that evaluates sector trends while adjusting for
changing levels of volatility.
***
The Premium AlphaSectorSM Index (ASRP) is an active public index
published by NASDAQ and designed to outperform the S&P 500® Index
while also seeking to manage downside risk and lower overall volatility. It
is an equal weighted index comprised of a limited number of sector-based
exchange traded funds (ETFs) and a short-term Treasury bond ETF as a
cash proxy. The ETFs are selected weekly based on the output of a
proprietary analytical model that evaluates sector trends while adjusting for
changing levels of volatility.
Moreover, these statements were incorporated by reference in multiple Summary Prospectuses
filed January 31, 2013 and June 13, 2013.
67.

Each of the Summary Prospectuses dated January 31 and June 13, 2013 similarly

noted that:
The [AlphaSector] fund allocates net assets to multiple asset classes
including: U.S. Equity, International Equity, Fixed Income, and Alternative.
Allocations within each asset class are based on proprietary quantitative
models.
68.

As discussed below, this information would later be revealed to be false, because

this purportedly dynamic and proprietary analytical model was implemented using simple moving
averages, one of the most basic trading tools used by novice, retail investors.
E. Virtus’s Assets under Management, Revenue, Earnings, and Stock Price
Skyrocket Due To The Success Of AlphaSector
69.

From the outset, Virtus’s sales of the AlphaSector funds were enormously

successful, driving increases in VIP’s assets under management (“AUM”), its revenues, earnings
and stock price. The two original Virtus AlphaSector funds were so successful, that Virtus soon
added three more AlphaSector-based funds, launching the Virtus Premium AlphaSector Fund on
July 12, 2010 and the Virtus Allocator Premium AlphaSector Fund and Virtus Global Premium
23
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AlphaSector Fund on March 15, 2011. All of these funds were invested by tracking AlphaSector
indexes.
70.

Wall Street analysts acknowledged that AlphaSector was Virtus’s flagship product

and the source of much of its revenue growth and fund inflow. For example, on June 25, 2012,
Sandler O’Neill Partners initiated coverage on Virtus with a “Buy” rating, noting that:
We expect retail investors to continue to gravitate toward VRTS’s
AlphaSector funds . . . designed to provide upside participation and
downside protection – particularly assuming the equity markets remain
choppy.
***
Much of VRTS’s growth in the last couple of years can be attributed to the
mutual fund channel reflecting a step up in sales via the wirehouses, and
into newer strategies (i.e. AlphaSector funds).
***
VRTS’s three largest open-end funds (Multi-Sector Short-Term Bond,
Emerging Market Opportunities, and Premium AlphaSector) continue to
generate the lion’s share of the firms overall mutual fund flows (~100%
over the last few quarters).
71.

Because Virtus publicly touted a supposed AlphaSector performance record that

far exceeded its peers, the Executive Defendants knew that Virtus could charge considerably
higher fees than other funds that could not match AlphaSector’s seemingly sterling track record.
72.

According to a Jefferies October 9, 2013 analyst report, the 1.50% fees on the

Virtus Dynamic AlphaSector fund were not only the highest but 300% higher than the average
fees across all product lines. These fees in turn translated into huge profits.
Year

Total AUM ($B)

AUM AlphaSector Fund ($B)

2008

$22.6

0

2009

$25.4

$.171

2010

$29.5

$.927

2011

$34.6

$3.89
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2012

$45.5

$5.0

2013

$57.7

$11.46

73.

As the chart above shows, from 2008 to 2013, Virtus’s AUM grew by over 155%,

of which the AUM attributable to AlphaSector funds grew from zero to $11.46 billion, or
approximately 20% of the total AUM and 33% of the increase in AUM over that period. The
growth of Virtus’s AlphaSector Funds also contributed to an astonishing growth of revenues and
profits disclosed in its annual reports filed in its Forms 10-K, which rose more than 324% in five
years.
Year

Revenue ($ mil.)

Net Income ($mil).

2009

$117

($6.5)

2010

$144

$5.2

2011

$204

$104

2012

$280

$37

2013

$389

$75

74.

The explosive growth in revenue and earnings, in turn, had a tremendous effect on

Virtus’s stock price. Virtus’s market capitalization grew an astounding 2350% from its initial
public offering closing price of $10.50 per share on January 2, 2009 to a Class Period and all time
high of $247.12 per share on May 17, 2013. Virtus’s one time impairment charge of $91.75 per
share in its first year of trading looked to be a distant memory.
Date

Closing
Price

Market
Capitalization

January 2, 2009 / First Day of Trading

$10.50

$60,758,166

January 4, 2010

$16.64

$96,287,226

January 3, 2011

$46.69

$270,171,311

January 3, 2012

$77.50

$448,453,130

January 2, 2013

$125.68

$727,246,314
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May 17, 2013 / Class Period and All Time High

$247.12

$1,429,957,903

75.

The chart below represents the growth in Virtus’s stock price during this period:

76.

Defendants greatly benefited from these gains. For example, Virtus’s Proxy filed

April 10, 2009 shows that Defendant CEO Aylward received 26% of his total compensation in
salary while 74% was in incentive pay. As part of the spin off from Phoenix, Aylward received
19,521 Virtus stock options at an exercise price of $31.38.
F. Doubts About the AlphaSector Track Record Are Raised Internally
Within Virtus, But Ignored
77.

Despite Virtus’s tremendous success, questions were being raised internally about

AlphaSector’s claimed track record. While it was not disclosed publicly until recently, according
to multiple media reports and confirmed by discussions with former employees of Virtus, certain
Virtus wholesalers began to raise questions about the AlphaSector performance record as early as
2011.
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78.

For instance, according to a December 22, 2014 article in Fortune magazine titled

“The Fund That Was Too Good To Be True,” two former Virtus employees say that inside Virtus
Howard Present got the nickname “Howie Backtest.” In an attempt to assuage the wholesalers, in
December 2011, a conference call was set up led by Present and Virtus’s sales leaders Jeff Cerutti
and John McCormack. This call was for the benefit of the Virtus wholesalers and could help give
them further direction and instruction into discussing AlphaSector’s track record during pitches.
According to a February 9, 2015 article published by RIABiz, a publication that specializes in the
mutual fund industry, the call unsettled some listeners because Present was combative and seemed
to cut the call short.
G. The December 14, 2012 Boca Raton Conference – An Internal Bombshell
79.

There can be no dispute that by the end of 2012, Virtus’s senior executives had

actual knowledge that the AlphaSector funds’ past performance record – their key selling point –
was fabricated. On December 14, 2012, Virtus held an internal conference for its wholesalers at
the Boca Raton Resort and Club. According to a February 9, 2015 article from RIABIZ, titled
“Where Virtus Stands After F-Squared Seemingly Led It Astray, To Mutual Benefit,” numerous
Virtus sales managers including Executives Jeff Cerutti and Frank Waltman attended the
conference in person.

The former VIP employee discussed above personally attended the

conference, and confirmed the information in the RIABiz article was correct. This employee
confirmed to Co-Lead Counsel that Defendants Cerutti and Waltman were in attendance. This
employee further stated that Defendant Alyward, because he was injured with a broken leg, could
not attend the meeting in person, but attended via telephone.
80.

On the first day of meetings, Howard Present spoke to the Virtus sales force and

touted AlphaSector’s now-infamous returns and past performance record. Present’s hour-long talk
included the statement, “The AlphaSector Premium Index is based on an active strategy with an
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inception date of April 1, 2001. Inception date is defined as the date as of which investor assets
began tracking the strategy.” This is what the wholesalers had been told for years to use as a
selling point for Virtus AlphaSector funds and, as such, it was also set forth in Virtus’s SEC filings
and marketing materials and on its website.
81.

Present spoke for all of his allotted time, and by the time he left the room the

conference was running slightly behind schedule. Pete Batchelar, head of product management at
Virtus, then stood up to give a recap of the presentation. According to two Virtus employees who
were in the room at the time, and as reported by RIABiz, during his recap, Batchelar told the room
not to heed the portion of Present’s remarks relating to F-Squared’s allegedly live track record. FSquared’s incredible returns were, he said, based not on actual client assets but on the backtesting
of hypothetical assets.
82.

Members of Virtus’s senior management, were “stone-faced” at the announcement,

staring straight ahead and showing no surprise whatsoever. In stark contrast, the wholesalers
looked around the room in shock. Despite rumors, they had never definitively heard before (and
certainly not from management) that the AlphaSector track record was backtested. It was
particularly shocking because this track record was the central selling point of the AlphaSector
funds – “it closed the sale” – and had been used by the wholesalers time and time again to get
investors to purchase Virtus’s mutual funds.
83.

Counsel for Plaintiffs spoke to the RIABIZ reporter who published the initial

article. The reporter confirmed the accuracy of his original article and further stated that, based
on follow-up investigations with his sources (former employees of Virtus), Defendants Waltman
and Cerutti were unquestionably in the conference room when Batchelar made these comments.
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84.

As noted, RIABiz’s reporting of events and sources are further confirmed by the

former Virtus wholesaler referenced above. According to that former employee, after Present’s
presentation, “there were several statements by [senior managers] John McCormick, Paul Cahill,
and Pete Batchelar” which “contradict[ed]” Present’s statement concerning the live track record.
This former employee also confirmed that Defendants Waltman and Cerutti were in attendance
and that CEO Alyward was participating by phone.
85.

This former Virtus wholesaler further stated that “eyebrows were raised” and others

in attendance were “surprised” by the “contradictory statements” between Present and Virtus
management about Virtus’s flagship product. After this bombshell, according to the former Virtus
employee, those in attendance increasingly questioned AlphaSector’s model and its past
performance. But they were instructed (or rather commanded) by sales management, including
Defendant Cerutti and others, that “this is how it stands so go out and sell with it. So we did,
vehemently.” This employee said that while employees were concerned by the comments at the
Boca Raton meeting, their complaints became a “broken record” and eventually the truth was
“swept under the rug.” RIABiz’s article confirms this information, citing a former wholesaler’s
explanation for why they continued to sell AlphaSector after learning that its past formance record
was false -- “We were just raising a ton of money.”
H. After the Wholesaler Conference in Boca Raton, Nothing Changes
86.

After the Boca meeting nothing changed. Rather than take the necessary prompt

action to correct its prior misstatements about the AlphaSector funds and to engage its “disciplined
monitoring” and oversight of its supposedly “high-quality” investment managers and subadvisors,
Virtus conducted business as usual. The Company continued to market its AlphaSector Funds
based on knowingly false information, and VIP even raised more than $160 million from public
investors in a secondary offering of common stock.
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1.
87.

Virtus Continues To Aggressively Market The AlphaSector
Funds Based On Knowingly False Information

Despite executives at the highest levels of Virtus knowing full well that

AlphaSector’s track record was false, Virtus continued to sell the five AlphaSector funds as if
everything was aboveboard and the integrity of the funds remained intact.
88.

The Company’s January 25, 2013 Registration Statement and accompanying

January 31, 2013 Prospectus were both filed with the SEC a month after the Boca meeting but
contained the exact same language touting AlphaSector’s pre-October 2008 performance record
that had been disseminated in the past. As noted above, these filings state that the AlphaSector
Indexes performed at blockbuster rates every year on average since their “inception date” of April
1, 2001, beating the S&P 500 by hundreds of basis points every year.
89.

Defendant George Aylward (CEO of VIP), who participated by phone in the Boca

meeting personally signed this Registration Statement. Frank Waltman (Executive Vice President,
Head of Product Management of VIP), who attended the Boca meeting in person, and who
supposedly conducted a rigorous due diligence process into the validity of the AlphaSector
methodology is listed in this Registration Statement and Prospectus as serving as a Director of VP
Distributors, the underwriter of the AlphaSector mutual funds and a 100% wholly-owned
subsidiary of VIP, and a Senior Vice President of VOT. And Jeffrey Cerutti (Former Executive
Vice President, Head of Distribution of VIP) is listed in the Registration Statement as the President
of VP Distributors. All of these executives, Alyward, Waltman, and Cerutti signed off on these
documents knowing they were false and knowing investors would rely on these falsities to throw
billions of dollars into Virtus.
90.

Nonetheless, Virtus’s wholesalers continued to use this Registration Statement and

Prospectus, and similar materials, when selling the AlphaSector funds, specifically emphasizing
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the track record that Defendants indisputably knew to be false. Indeed, as stated by the former
Virtus wholesaler discussed above, who was personally involved in marketing AlphaSector funds
during the Class Period, Virtus wholesalers were trained to emphasize the 2001-2008 track record
of AlphaSector when marketing the funds.
91.

Documents that this former Virtus wholesaler provided to Co-Lead Counsel

confirm this point. Exhibit A, attached hereto, is a January 31, 2013 prospectus that the former
wholesaler stated was used to market the AlphaSector funds during the Class Period. This
document is branded on the very first page with the logo of “Virtus Investment Partners,” and
contains information about Virtus’s five AlphaSector funds. The former Virtus wholesaler stated
that this was one of the key documents used by the salesforce to market the funds, and that
wholesalers were trained to point to the information in the Appendices because it “closed the sale.”
Specifically, they pointed to pages 60 and 61 of Exhibit A, which discuss the “performance of the
AlphaSector [funds] as compared with the performance of the S&P 500 Index” and that the
“inception date” of the AlphaSector index was April 1, 2011.
92.

Virtus’s knowingly false statements had their desired impact, as the profits

continued to roll in. Indeed, on the Company’s May 1, 2013 first quarter conference call,
Defendant Alyward noted the continued success of the Company stating that:
We continued to deliver a significant top line and bottom line growth,
including record sales, net flows and profitability. . . . Total sales of $6.2
billion represented a 78% increase from the first quarter of last year and a
sequential increase of 62% from the fourth quarter. We also have record
$3.7 billion of positive net flows that nearly doubled the net flows from the
year earlier.
The biggest driver for our growth continues to be mutual fund sales and we
had our best quarter ever for fund sales.
93.

Thus, the Boca meeting changed nothing. Rather than take steps to correct its prior

misstatements and get truthful information to investors, Virtus’s message internally was to keep
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silent, not make waves, and continue to aggressively sell AlphaSector funds based on false
representations.
2.
94.

The September 2013 Secondary Offering: VIP Sells More
Than $160 Million In Common Stock To Investors

On or around September 13, 2013, Virtus took advantage of its increasing assets

and revenues generated from the AlphaSector funds, and VIP’s correspondingly soaring stock
price, to conduct a secondary offering of common stock. In this offering, VIP sold approximately
1,129,000 shares of common stock at a price of $155.00 per share for total net proceeds of
approximately $167 million from investors.
95.

The stock was issued pursuant to numerous SEC filings, including a registration

statement that was filed with the SEC on June 26, 2013 and a prospectus dated June 26, 2013 and
prospectus
Statement”).

supplement

dated

September

12,

2013

(collectively,

the

“Registration

The Registration Statement makes several statements touting VIP’s ability to

monitor the “quality” of its sub-advisers, including F-Squared, stating, for example: “We monitor
the quality of our products by assessing the managers’ performance, style, consistency and the
discipline with which they apply their investment process. . . . Our primary objective is to provide
clients with a diverse offering of high-quality investment capabilities from the best managers.”
96.

The Registration Statement also incorporated by reference numerous SEC filings,

such as the 2012 Form 10-K, which praised the Company’s ability to “monitor the quality of the
affiliated managers and unaffiliated subadvisers products by assessing their performance, style,
consistency and the discipline with which they apply their investment process.” In a press release
dated September 12, 2013, Virtus disclosed that it intended to use the net proceeds of this offering
to “expand its seed capital program for new investment strategies and funds; invest in other growth
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opportunities; and for general corporate purposes,” however two years later, the funds remain
unused, sitting on the Company’s balance sheet.
I.

“All Hell Breaks Loose”: Virtus Learns The SEC Is Investigating FSquared And Employees Are Directed To Destroy Documents

97.

According to the SEC’s Complaint against F-Squared and Present, on July 30,

2013, the Commission’s examination staff began a routine examination of F-Squared. On July 31,
2013, the examination staff interviewed Present, who said that the performance of AlphaSector
prior to October 2008 was based on accounts managed by another investment adviser, but that he
could not reveal the name of the other adviser due to a confidentiality agreement. Later that day,
the examination staff asked F-Squared to produce additional documents as soon as possible,
including:
Supporting documentation for the investor assets within the Premium
AlphaSector Index starting in April 2001 including the investor names and
the managers / firms responsible for managing the accounts.
98.

On July 31, 2013, while the Commission staff was in F-Squared’s office, Present

emailed David Morton, “Please call. Left you voicemail. Time sensitive subject.” Two hours
later, Present left another voicemail for Morton:
Uh, I have a regulator in my office, and they are looking at the contracts
between us. . . . I am going to talk to you about what’s being provided and
see if we can forestall because I don’t want them to walk out of my office
and over to yours. Um, that doesn’t help either of us.
99.

Within one day and minimal digging, the SEC had zeroed in on the problem with

AlphaSector’s track record and forced Present to start scrambling. In response to the SEC
investigation, on September 23, 2013, Present told his staff the news that F-Squared was going to
drop pre-October 2008 results from its representations of AlphaSector’s historical performance.
He explained:
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As most of you should know, now that we have crossed over the 5 year
mark for our AlphaSector US Equity strategies. . ., we are going to shift our
presentation decks to define “live” as 9/08 forward and everything prior as
backtested. While when we acquired rights to the AlphaSector strategy
from [Newfound Research] they provided us with historical performance of
the strategy, now that we have crossed the five year window we feel there
is no need to deal with the distractions and confusion of even asserting that
the live track record is [sic] in existence prior to the formation of the firm.
100.

With that, F-Squared took down all information relating to AlphaSector’s fake track

record from its advertising materials and website, but refused to make any public statements.
101.

Days later, in late September or early October 2013, the former Virtus wholesaler

referenced above recalled that the Company held a due diligence meeting in Chicago where
Howard Present gave a presentation to thirty internal Virtus advisors. While this former employee
did not personally attend the meeting, he heard from persons who did attend that Jeff Cerutti, Paul
Cahill, and John McCormack, the heads of Virtus’s sales department were all in attendance.
According to this former employee, Present’s presentation was a game changer. During the
meeting, Virtus management learned that F-Squared was being investigated by the SEC regarding
AlphaSector’s 2001 to 2008 performance track record.
102.

After this announcement by F-Squared, according to this former employee, “all hell

broke loose” and Virtus went into full damage control mode. Indeed, shortly after the Chicago
meeting Virtus management organized an all hands on deck conference call, which included CEO
Alyward, as well as Cerutti, Batchelar, Cahill, and McCormick. The former Virtus wholesaler
personally attended the conference call.

According to this former employee, on this call

management told Virtus’s employees that they “had to do a scorched earth” and destroy “any
materials they had” relating to AlphaSector’s prior track record. This employee said that he and
others destroyed both hard copy documents and emails because “everything needed to be gone.”
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103.

This former employee recalled that Virtus employees were “shocked” by this order

but many, including himself, complied by deleting emails, PDFs, discarding hard copy documents,
and advertising materials – anything that reflected the AlphaSector 2001 to 2008 track record.
This employee recalled that “[i]f it was internal between product research, sales force, and
management – there was quite a bit of that and that all had to go.”
104.

In its October 4, 2013 Prospectus, Virtus suddenly removed the Appendices which

had discussed in detail AlphaSector’s 2001 to 2008 track record. In its Form N-1A Registration
Statement filed January 27, 2014, signed by Defendants Alyward and VOT Trustees, Virtus once
again eliminated AlphaSector’s past performance record. Neither in the prospectus, registration
statements or any other press releases, or forums did Virtus even mention that this language had
been deleted, let alone provide any explanation that it was being done because of an SEC
investigation into F-Squared challenging the veracity of these former statements.
105.

The former Virtus wholesaler confirmed that Virtus did not even bother to even

alert its own clients of this problem, let alone pubic investors, stating that “Virtus posted no
information and senior management publicly did not make any statements.” After the scramble,
Virtus’s advertising materials and prospectuses no longer contained the AlphaSector track record.
But investors and clients were not informed about the change, why it took place, or that the past
track record was false. According to this former employee, the line from management to Virtus’s
employees was that this was an “F-Squared issue, not a Virtus issue” and that “all the mutual funds
were started in 2009 and later.”
106.

Despite this “stonewall” exterior, the Virtus sales force was in a panic. According

to the former Virtus wholesaler, Virtus’s wholesalers had weekly sales meeting “almost every
Friday for a year” where the “SEC investigation became the number one point of conversation.”
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Virtus employees knew they had not only been trained to use the AlphaSector performance history
but encouraged investors to purchase billions of dollars in Virtus funds based on their false
representations, and employees became concerned about potential liability. According to the
former Virtus wholesaler, Cerutti, Batchelar and others were on these Friday calls discussing the
SEC investigation and attempted to assuage the wholesalers by noting that “it would stop at the
prospectus (corporate) level of Virtus” and they personally (the salesforce) should not worry. Even
if Virtus was not being formally investigated by the SEC, at this time, Virtus’s senior executives
knew that it was a problem that involved the highest levels of management and posed a serious
risk to the Company.
J. Virtus Executives At the Heart of the Fraud Start To Sell Their Stock
and Cerutti Abruptly Resigns
107.

Even though Virtus’s executives told the wholesalers not to panic, they could not

follow their own advice. Recognizing that the SEC was now investigating F-Squared and that
Virtus would be next, the two most senior executives who personally attended the December 2012
Boca Raton meeting, Defendants Jeff Cerutti and Frank Waltman started to unload their personal
holdings of Virtus stock.
108.

As shown in the table below, prior to 2013, Cerutti never sold a single share of

Virtus common stock during the three years from when he first started working at the Company in
June 2010. But just a few months after the Boca retreat, on June 1, 2013, Cerutti sold 3,280 shares
at the average price of $231.86, (close to the Class Period and record high of $247.12) for a total
of $760,500. On March 14, 2014, a few months after the SEC investigation into F-Squared was
revealed to Virtus and materials were ordered by Cerutti to be destroyed, Cerutti unloaded 8,225
shares, at a price of $175.62 per share or $1,444,474.50. Altogether, Cerutti sold 34% of his stock
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for total proceeds of over $2.2 million dollars. None of these sales were pursuant to a 10b-5-1
trading plan.
Insider

Transaction
Date

Acquisition Shares
(“A”)
/Disposition
(“D”)
No dispositions in the period between 2009-2012
Jeff Cerutti
June 1, 2013
D
3,280
March 14, 2013
Total
Dispositions

109.

D
D

8,225
11,505

Price

Value

$231.86

$760,500.80

$175.62

$1,444,474.50
$2,204,975.30

After dropping this significant quantity of shares, Cerutti abruptly resigned

effective April 1, 2014. Cerutti left knowing that he would be giving up unvested stock and equity
awards worth over $1.6 million. Since Cerutti’s base salary was held constant at only $300,000
per year, Cerutti gave up the vast majority of his compensation, which was virtually guaranteed if
he stayed.
110.

As shown in the table below, after the Boca Raton meeting in December 2012 but

before the fraud was revealed to investors, Defendant Waltman started to unload shares at a rapid
pace. According to his Form 4s filed with the SEC, Waltman sold 28% of his holdings between
March 2013 and March 2014, pocketing $1,643,721.76. These sales were not pursuant to a 10b5-1 trading plan, rather Waltman knew that he needed to dump the stock before investors learned
what he had known since at least December 2012 – that Virtus’s flagship product was built on a
lie.
Insider

Transaction
Date

Frank Waltman

March 15, 2013
Dec. 16, 2013
Dec. 16, 2013

Acquisition
(“A”)
/Disposition
(“D”)
D
D
D

Shares

Price

Value

2,189
732
751

$186.16
$205.82

$407,504.24
$150,660.24
$152,205.17
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Dec. 16, 2013
Dec. 17, 2013
Dec. 17, 2013
March 14, 2014
Total
Dispositions

V.

D
D
D
D
D

767
308
442
3,559
8,748

$203.43
$203.99
$202.40
$175.62

$156,030.81
$62,828.92
$89,460.80
$ 625,031.58
$1,643,721.76

THE TRUTH BEGINS TO EMERGE
A.

The Market Begins To Learn The Truth, But Analysts Still Believe
Any Regulatory Concerns Stop At F-Squared

111.

On May 14, 2014, The Wall Street Journal reported that F-Squared announced in a

letter to clients that it had “clearly overstated” the past performance of its main strategy in
marketing materials and misrepresented that its strategy tracked real money. Despite F-Squared’s
disclosure, Virtus’s management refused to comment and did not confirm that the F-Squared issue
impacted any Virtus funds. Nor did any of the Virtus Defendants inform the market that they had
been aware of the falsity of the F-Squared track record and the SEC investigation into F-Squared
for many months. Nonetheless, Virtus shares declined over the next two days by approximately
$8.66 per share, or 4.67%.
112.

On September 3, 2014, multiple news agencies reported for the first time that F-

Squared had received a “Wells Notice” from the SEC. In its September 5, 2014 analyst report,
Jefferies noted that the “Wells Notice disclosure by F-Squared is the key piece of new information”
for Virtus. Jefferies stated that “VRTS is not subject to the SEC investigation” but noted that
“[c]urrently F-Squared sub-advises on 5 VRTS funds, which account for $13B (approx. 20%) of
VRTS’s roughly $61B in AUM.” Influenced by the fact that Virtus had not made any statements
or disclosures on the SEC investigation, Jefferies made it clear that “[i]t’s important to note the
SEC’s investigation is focused on F-Squared and not VRTS. Any resulting proceedings, actions
or fines that may be undertaken by the SEC would be against F-Squared.”
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113.

Defendants had deliberately concealed from analysts the material risk that Virtus’s

business could be negatively impacted by the legal issues related to F-Squared – including by
damaging the AlphaSector brand and/or leading to large outflows of assets from those funds when
the truth was revealed. Defendants were also deliberately concealing the material undisclosed risk
that, because Virtus’s long-standing knowledge that its representations about AlphSector were
false, Virtus itself would be subject to regulatory investigations and potential fines and sanctions.
114.

Despite the fact that the full truth was not known to the market, Virtus shares

declined in response to this news from $222.34 per share to close on September 5, 2014 at $185.01,
a loss of $37.33 per share or 16.7%.
115.

Defendants continued to mislead the market about the true impact of the F-Squared

issues. On October 28, 2014, VIP held a conference call with investors where a Sandler O'Neill
& Partners analyst asked Alyward “[j]ust to follow up on F-Squared, any updates on the SEC
investigation? And then from your perspective, do you have any sort of time line as it relates to
your relationship with F-Squared?” In response, Defendant Alyward downplayed the significance
of the SEC investigation into F-Squared by saying the AlphaSector funds “fit really well into a
portfolio that you’re looking at from a risk-managed perspective.” “You’ve seen what’s been in
the media related to that. So I have no updates or anything to provide. . . . The funds are continuing
to do what they’re intended to do, and that is really what we consider very important in terms of
the financial advisers understanding how to use those products in their portfolio.” While Alyward
was unwilling to disclose that Virtus’s prior statements concerning risk management and
consistent performance were wholly inconsistent with his knowledge that AlphaSector’s track
record was completely made up, Jefferies noted in its October 29, 2014 analyst report “the SEC
investigation of VRTS sub-advisor F-Squared remains the primary factor that keeps us Hold rated
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as we continue to evaluate the range and likelihood of different outcomes from the SEC
investigation.”
116.

On November 14, 2014, news sources reported that Howard Present resigned from

F-Squared and as a subadvisor of Virtus. Dow Jones News Wire reported that “[t]he departure
comes amid regulatory scrutiny about how F-Squared advertised certain historical returns.”
According to Sandler O’Neill & Partners, Present’s departure “likely deepen[s] concerns for
existing/prospective [Virtus] fund shareholders, thereby further pressuring related sales and
redemptions.” In response, Virtus shares closed on November 13, 2014 at $183.00 and proceeded
to drop the next four business days, closing on November 19, 2014 at $154.17, a loss of $28.83
per share or 15.7%.
B.

In Its Settlement with the SEC F-Squared Admits To “Willful
Violations” of the Securities Laws And “Aiding And Abetting”
Violations By Certain (As Yet) Unnamed Mutual Fund Companies

117.

On Monday, December 22, 2014, news agencies reported that F-Squared admitted

to “willfully” violating securities laws, and settled with the SEC in return for detailed admissions
and $35 million in disgorgement and civil monetary penalties. In the December 22, 2014
settlement, the SEC found and F-Squared admitted to a host of “willful[]” violations of federal
securities laws, including that the AlphaSector funds were marketed based on a false, materially
inflated performance track record which they advertised as “not backtested.” F-Squared also
admitted that its purportedly “dynamic” and “proprietary” algorithmic model that helped generate
the 2001 to 2008 track record was in reality based on “simple moving average[s]” that are the
generic tool of the most basic trader.
118.

Further, F-Squared admitted to “willfully violat[ing]” Sections 204, 206(1), 206(2),

206(4), and 207 of the Advisers Act and rules promulgated thereunder which prohibit
“publish[ing], ciculat[ing], or distribut[ing] . . . untrue statement[s] of material fact” in mutual fund
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filings and advertisements. Notably, the SEC also found and F-Squared admitted to “willfully
violat[ing]” Section 34(b) of the Investment Company Act because it “willfully aided and abetted
. . . certain mutual funds sub-advised by F-Squared” to make “untrue or misleading statement[s]
of material fact in [] registration statement[]s” and other documents filed with the Commission
under the Investment Company Act.
119.

Since AlphaSector’s inception in October 2008, through September 2013, the SEC

found and F-Squared admitted that it sold and marketed its funds based on two materially false
claims. Specifically, F-Squared admitted that:
F-Squared made two materially false claims in its AlphaSector
advertisements and Forms ADV, namely that

120.



the in/out ETF signals that formed the basis of the AlphaSector
index returns had been used to manage client assets from April 2001
to September 2008l and



the in/out ETF signals resulted in a track record that significantly
outperformed the S&P 500 Index from April 2001 to September
2008.

The SEC specifically identified that the AlphaSector indexes “that are the subject

of this matter, include the AlphaSector Premium Index and the AlphaSector Rotation Index.”
These were the exact indexes in Virtus’s registration statements and prospectuses.
121.

In addition, F-Squared admitted that its past returns were grossly overstated.

According to the SEC, F-Squared incorrectly applied ETF trend data that dictated whether an ETF
was in or out of the AlphaSector portfolio (the “in/out signals”). In creating its backtested track
record, F-Squared systematically applied the in/out signals one week before the ETF price changes
that caused changes in signals ( i.e., a change from invested in the ETF to out of the ETF or viceversa). As a result, the advertised historical performance of the AlphaSector strategy from April
2001 to September 2008 was not only based upon a fabricated backtest of hypothetical returns, but
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even the back-test was premised on erroneously implementing signals to sell before price drops
and to buy before price increases that had occurred a week earlier. F-Squared compiled the
historical data to implement a hypothetical trade (that F-Squared advertised as an actual trade) one
week before the trade could have occurred.
122.

As a result, the SEC found that AlphaSector’s track record was materially over-

stated and inflated. For example, if an investor made a hypothetical investment of $100,000 on
April 1, 2001, the investment would have been worth approximately $128,000 on August 24, 2008
if invested in the S&P 500 Index. With accurately timed (but still hypothetical and back-tested)
signal implementation, the same investment in F-Squared’s hypothetical ETF sector rotation
strategy would have been worth only $138,000. However, by implementing the hypothetical and
back-tested signals one week early (and incorrectly), F-Squared advertised the investment as worth
$235,000 - an increase of approximately 350% than if F-Squared had applied the signals
accurately. This intentional wrongdoing is further verified by the fact that Virtus’s AlphaSector
funds actually grossly underperformed the market when the data was implemented on a “live,”
going forward basis from September 2008 to present.
123.

According to the SEC, F-Squared and Present knew that these statements about the

AlphaSector strategy were false and materially misleading. Present knew that the track record had
been back-tested, and was not derived from actual live asset management. F-Squared also
“admit[ted]” that the AlphaSector track record was based on changes in 41-week and 61-week
simple moving averages, and not “algorithmic-based models” which are referenced in numerous
marketing materials and prospectuses filed with the SEC and distributed to investors.
124.

Based upon this conduct, the SEC found and F-Squared admitted that it “willfully

violated” Sections 206(1) and 206(2) which prohibit any investment adviser from employing any
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device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any client or prospective client, and from engaging in any
transaction, practice, or course of business which operates as a fraud or deceit upon any client or
prospective client.
125.

The SEC also found and F-Squared “admitted” that it “willfully violated” Section

206(4) of the Advisors Act and Rule 206(4)-1(a)(5) which makes it a fraudulent, deceptive, or
manipulative act, practice, or course of business to, among other things, directly or indirectly
publish, circulate, or distribute an advertisement which contains any untrue statement of material
fact, or which is otherwise false or misleading, and Rule 206(4)-7 which, among other things,
makes it a fraudulent, deceptive, or manipulative act, practice, or course of business to fail to adopt
and implement such written policies or procedures reasonably designed to prevent violation of the
Advisers Act and rules.
126.

The SEC also found and F-Squared “admit[ted]” that it “willfully violated” Section

206(4) of the Advisers Act and Rule 206(4)-8, which makes it a fraudulent, deceptive, or
manipulative act, practice, or course of business for any investment adviser to a pooled vehicle to
make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading,
to any investor or prospective investor in the pooled investment vehicle, or to other wise engage
in any act, practice, or course of business that is fraudulent, deceptive or manipulative with respect
to any investor or prospective investor in the pooled investment vehicle.
127.

Finally, the SEC found and F-Squared admitted to “willfully aid[ing] and abet[ing]

. . . certain mutual funds sub-advised by F-Squared . . . to violate Section 34(b) of the Investment
Company Act which, among other things, makes it unlawful for any person to make any untrue or
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misleading statement of material fact in any registration statement, application, report, account,
record, or other document filed with the Commission under the Investment Company Act.”
128.

As a result of these numerous violations, F-Squared agreed to cease and desist from

its prior abuses, retain an Independent Compliance Consultant and pay disgorgement of $30
million and a penalty of $5 million.
C.

Defendants Continue to Mislead Investors

129.

Despite Howard Present’s resignation as a sub-advisor for Virtus and F-Squared’s

admissions of violations of the federal securities laws relating to its 2001-2008 AlphaSector track
record, Virtus continued to mislead investors regarding the material risk that these issues posed to
Virtus’s business and potential exposure to legal and regulatory action.
130.

On January 29, 2015, Virtus held a conference call where Defendant Aylward

stated that there were “elevated mutual fund redemptions,” but in his prepared remarks refused to
acknowledge Howard Present’s resignation, a looming SEC investigation, or the plain fact that
Virtus had for so many years touted a fake track record for one of its “flagship” products. Aylward
noted:
While AlphaSector Rotation had modestly positive net flows for the quarter,
Premium AlphaSector experienced net outflows of $1.3 billion due
primarily to elevated redemptions. Several factors contributed to the
outflows including reactions to a large capital gain distribution
communicated on November 13, the absolute performance of this downside
protection product in an up market and developments at the fund subadvisor and the related announcements and resulting media coverage.
Incredibly, this was the extent of Alyward’s prepared remarks on Present and AlphaSector. When
asked by an analyst from Raymond James and Associates to “maybe update us on what is going
on there,” Alyward responded.
[W]e’re not going to answer any questions related to the sub advisor or any
regulatory matter.
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131.

Similarly, VIP’s 2014 Form 10-K filed March 2, 2015 states:
The Company believes, based on its current knowledge, that the outcomes
of its legal and regulatory proceedings are not likely, either individually or
in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on its consolidated
financial condition.

Thus a year and a half after Virtus’s senior management destroyed materials and told its sales force
that the SEC investigation was a significant “corporate” and “prospectus” problem at the highest
levels of Virtus, management continued to deliberately conceal material risks that they knew
Virtus faced.
D.

Defendants Are Finally Forced To Reveal The Truth

132.

On May 11, 2015, Virtus filed its Q1 2015 10-Q in which it announced for the first

time that the SEC was investigating the Company in connection with F-Squared. The 10-Q notes:
As previously disclosed, in December 2014 the SEC announced a
settlement with F-Squared Investments (“F-Squared”), an unaffiliated
former subadviser (see Note 14 of the condensed consolidated financial
statements) which settled charges that F-Squared had violated the federal
securities laws as described in Investment Advisers Act Release No. 3988.
The settlement related to F-Squared’s inaccurate performance information
for the period of April 2001 through September 2008, including indices that
certain Virtus mutual funds tracked beginning in September 2009 and
January 2011. As part of the SEC’s non-public, confidential investigation
of this matter, the SEC staff informed the Company that it was inquiring
into whether the Company had violated securities laws or regulations with
respect to F-Squared’s historical performance information. Although the
Company has not received a Wells Notice in connection with the
investigation, the Company is in active discussions with the SEC staff with
the objective of promptly resolving this matter.
Based upon these circumstances, the Company has recorded a loss
contingency pursuant to ASC 450 – Contingencies, of approximately $5.2
million in the first quarter 2015, in other operating expenses along with a
related potential income tax benefit as a component of the Company’s
income tax expense.
133.

This disclosure shocked the market. Indeed, on the accompanying May 11, 2015

conference call Alyward let it slip that the Company was in “turmoil,” but then quickly backed
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away from the statement saying “[w]ell, in hindsight I don’t know why I used the word turmoil.”
Continuing mixed messages, Alyward announced that Virtus had fired F-Squared, and announced
that Virtus renamed its five AlphaSector funds, eliminating the once impressive AlphaSector
moniker. Remarkably, Defendant Alyward stated:
You know funds have changes in sub-advisors and managers somewhat
frequently in the industry. So there is nothing unusual from that perspective.
134.

Despite Defendant Alyward’s continued efforts to downplay it, the market reacted

sharply to this news, with the price of VIP stock plunging 13% in a single day, falling from
$134.00, to $116.27 on May 11, 2015 on extraordinarily high trading volume.
135.

In its May 11, 2015 report, Jefferies noted that the SEC investigation would be an

“overhang” for the stock and predicted that “net outflows will likely accelerate.” Although
litigation had never before been on Wall Street analysts’ radar, Credit Suisse would later note that
the number one risk for Virtus would now be “Litigation Issues: VRTS is currently facing several
litigation issues, and an adverse judgment can result in a large payment which could impact their
ability to operate and generate profits.”
136.

In its June 5, 2015 analyst report, Jefferies noted that even though Virtus’s loss

contingency was $5.2 million, it estimated that a potential SEC penalty and disgorgement paid by
Virtus could rise as high as $60 million, (nearly double F-Squared’s payment and without taking
into account private litigation risk) assuming Virtus was at “arms-length from the source of the
errors.”
137.

On July 31, 2015, Virtus announced that it had not resolved the SEC investigation

and that its loss contingency had more than tripled to $16.5 million. The material risks to Virtus’s
business that had been deliberately concealed have now been revealed to the market as Virtus,
among other things:
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-

Is in the midst of a significant SEC investigation (as Defendants knew was
essentially inevitable);

-

Has had to fire F-Squared, which was previously highlighted as a Virtus
“success” story;

-

Has eliminated the branding of its flagship product, changing the name of each
of its AlphaSector funds;2

-

Has seen significant outflows of assets under management in the funds that
were formerly know as AlphaSector – with assets declining more than 15%
from a high of $11.4 billion to approximately $9.9 billion, with redemptions
continuing; and

-

Has seen a corresponding decline in revenue as its highest-fee funds lose assets.

138.

The inevitable materialization of these risks, and the damages they would cause to

Virtus’s business and share price had been foreseeable to Defendants for many years but
Defendants deliberately concealed them in order to benefit themselves at the expense of Virtus’s
investors.
VI.

FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS AND OMISSIONS
139.

In addition to the materially false and misleading statements and omissions set forth

above, Defendants made the following materially false and misleading statements and omissions
during the Class Period.
A.

False and Misleading Statements and Omissions About AlphaSector’s
Historic Track Record

140.

During the Class Period and for years earlier, Virtus touted the AlphaSector funds’

false and misleading track record in numerous public statements, including in documents publiclyfiled with the SEC. These documents include the Company’s January 28, 2010, January 27, 2011,

2

The name changes are as follows: (i) AlphaSector Rotation has been rebranded as Virtus Sector
Trend Fund, (ii) Premium AlphaSector has been rebranded as Virtus U.S. Equity Trend Fund;
(iii) Global Premium AlphaSector has been rebranded as Virtus Global Equity Trend Fund; (iv)
Allocator Premium AlphaSector has been rebranded as Virtus Multi-Asset Trend Fund; and (v)
Dynamic AlphaSector has been rebranded as Virtus Dynamic Trend Fund.
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January 27, 2012, and January 25, 2013 Registration Statements, its Prospectuses filed December
8, 2009, February 6, 2012, and January 31, 2013, and in dozens of Summary Prospectuses filed
with the SEC on February 2, 2010, February 2, 2011, February 2, 2012, January 31, 2013, and
June 13, 2013 which incorporated this information by reference, as well advertising materials,
sales pitches to clients, and on its website.
141.

The Company’s January 25, 2013 registration statement, which was signed by

Defendant Alyward, and the accompanying prospectus that were publicly filed with the SEC, made
express statements about AlphaSector’s past track record.

These statements included a direct

comparison between AlphaSector’s track record and the performance of the S&P 500, as follows:
The AlphaSector Rotation Index (ASRX) . . . is an equal weighted index comprised
of a limited number of sector-based exchange-traded funds (“ETFs”). . . . The ETFs
are selected monthly based on the output of a proprietary analytical model that
evaluates sector trends while adjusting for changing levels of volatility. The Index
is constituted to focus on avoiding losses of its underlying ETFs, and has the ability
to move defensively to large “cash” positions in periods of broader market
weakness. The tables below show performance of the AlphaSector Rotation Index
as compared with the performance of the S&P 500 Index.
Annual Returns
(calendar year)
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Average Annual
Total Return
AlphaSector
Rotation Index

AlphaSector
Rotation Index
9.38%
13.89%
5.65%
14.40%
14.18%
-8.54%
25.37%
15.50%
1.35%
14.47%

1 Year

5 Years

14.47%

8.97%
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10 Years

10.20%

S&P 500
Index
28.71%
10.86%
4.93%
15.78%
5.49%
-37.00%
26.46%
15.06%
2.11%
16.00%
Since Inception of
AlphaSector
Rotation Index
(4/1/01)
7.90%
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S&P 500 Index

16.00%

1.66%

7.10%

3.78%

The Premium AlphaSector Index (ASRP) . . . is an equal weighted index comprised
of a limited number of sector-based exchange-traded funds (“ETFs”). . . . The ETFs
are selected weekly based on the output of a proprietary analytical model that
evaluates sector trends while adjusting for changing levels of volatility. The Index
is constituted to focus on avoiding losses of its underlying ETFs, and has the ability
to move defensively to large “cash” positions in periods of broader market
weakness. The tables below show performance of the Premium AlphaSector Index
as compared with the performance of the S&P 500 Index.
Annual Returns
(calendar year)
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Average Annual
Total Return

(1)

Premium
AlphaSector Index
24.07%
14.90%
6.83%
16.81%
14.86%
-1.13%
32.22%
17.66%
1.68%
13.90%

S&P 500
Index
28.71%
10.86%
4.93%
15.78%
5.49%
-37.00%
26.46%
15.06%
2.11%
16.00%

1 Year

5 Years

10 Years

Premium
AlphaSector Index

13.90%

12.24%

13.79%

Since Inception of
Premium
AlphaSector Index
(4/1/01)1
12.65%

S&P 500 Index

16.00%

1.66%

7.10%

3.78%

The Index Inception date is April 1, 2001[.]
142.

Identical information was included in the January 31, 2013 VIP prospectus, which

was provided to Co-Lead Counsel by a former Virtus employee and is attached as Exhibit A at
pages 60-61, and incorporated by reference into numerous Summary Prospectuses filed January
31, 2013 and June 13, 2013.
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143.

The information in these documents was material to investors. It purported to

describe the actual “performance” track record of the AlphaSector indexes as compared to the S&P
500 index for a period of several years. By showing an “inception date” of “April 1, 2001,”
investors understood that the returns were the result of a proven historical strategy that actually
had been in place since an inception date of April 2001. The average annual total returns for the
Premium AlphaSector Index and AlphaSector Rotation Index were purported to be an incredible
12.65% and 7.9% (respectively) since their “inception date” as opposed to only 3.78% for the S&P
500. The Premium AlphaSector Index is shown having a loss in 2008 of only -1.13% at the time
when the market faced one of the greatest financial crises in history and the S&P 500 is shown
having a loss of -37.00%. Investors reading this information would see that in a time of market
turmoil that the AlphaSector indexes were not only a safe-haven but even in good times delivered
returns that far surpassed the competition, with compounding returns that were 480% higher than
the S&P 500.
144.

The statements set forth above were materially false and misleading. In connection

with the December 22, 2014 settlement between F-Squared and the SEC, F-Squared admitted to
“two materially false claims in its AlphaSector advertisements.” These admitted materially false
claims were that (1) the AlphaSector strategy had managed client assets from its inception April
2001 to September 2008, and (2) the AlphaSector strategy had significantly outperformed the S&P
500 index from April 2001 to September 2008.
145.

Indeed, in stark contrast to Virtus’s statements about AlphaSector’s historical

performance, the AlphaSector strategy did not even exist prior to October 2008. As described
above, the reported results for periods prior to October 2008 were based not upon actual
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management of real client money but instead upon post-hoc “back-testing” of the AlphaSector
strategy using hypothetical inputs.
146.

Moreover, the hypothetical back-testing itself was materially false and misleading.

As F-Squared has admitted in connection with the SEC settlement:
F-Squared created the pre-October 2008 “historical track record”
incorrectly by implementing all the purchases and sales [for the funds] one
week before they should have been implemented. Because the signals were
detecting price momentum, F-Squared’s incorrectly implementing the
signals one week early meant that AlphaSector’s “historical track record”
was based on its selling before price drops that had already occurred and
buying before price increases that had already occurred. As described
below, virtually all of AlphaSector’s claimed outperformance relative to the
S&P 500 Index for the pre-October 2008 period is attributable to this
erroneous calculation.
147.

As further admitted by F-Squared, this “inaccurate compilation of historical data

substantially [and falsely] improved the AlphaSector’s strategy’s advertised back-tested and
hypothetical historical performance for the pre-October 2008 period.”

As described in F-

Squared’s admissions filed in the SEC action, this error meant the following:
If an investor made a hypothetical investment of $100,000 on April 1, 2001
(assuming a reinvestment of dividends and no further contributions or
withdrawals), the investment would have been worth approximately
$128,000 on August 24, 2008 if invested in the S&P 500 Index. With
accurately timed (but still hypothetical and back-tested) signal
implementation, the same investment in F-Squared’s hypothetical and backtested signals one week early, F-Squared advertised the investment as worth
$235,000.
148.

As the SEC described in its December 22, 2014 press release announcing the

settlement with F-Squared, this inaccurate calculation grossly inflated AlphaSector’s pre-October
2008 returns by 350%. Defendants knew or should have known about this inflation because Virtus
had a direct relationship with Newfound Research – the Company that was founded by Cory
Hoffstein, the 20 year old intern who in 2009 licensed his algorithm to F-Squared, and David
Morton.
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149.

On October 4, 2012, Virtus announced that it was teaming up with Newfound

Research to establish Newfound Investments. According to the press release:
Newfound Investments is a new investment manager that will expand
Virtus’ offerings of innovative investment solutions by adding disciplined,
rules-based strategies to manage a variety of asset classes. . . . Using
Newfound Research’s proprietary tactical models, the first strategies
managed by Newfound Investments will be three open-ended mutual funds
called the Virtus Disciplined funds. Virtus has filed registrations with the
SEC for the Virtus Disciplined Equity Style Fund, Virtus Disciplined Select
Country Fund and Virtus Disciplined Select Bond Fund. Corey Hoffstein,
co-founder and chief investment officer of Newfound Research, will serve
as portfolio manager for the new funds.
150.

Through this relationship, Virtus knew or should have known that the intern

responsible for the algorithm underlying AlphaSector had been just thirteen years old in 2001, at
the time that the AlphaSector strategy had supposedly gone live, and had not even graduated from
college until 2009. Moreover, if Defendants had any questions or wanted to seek more information
on the background of AlphaSector, including the history of the algorithm and building blocks of
the model, they could easily have reached out to Hoffstein, or Morton, since they were now direct
business partners and there was no buffer (such as Howard Present) between them.
151.

Unfortunately for investors, however, there is no indication that Defendants used

the opportunity to do any follow-up due diligence on AlphaSector. Further, according to the SEC
complaint against F-Squared, in May 2013 Virtus asked Newfound Research why its substantially
similar funds had substantially underperformed AlphaSector in 2008. This question prompted an
employee to run a backtest on F-Squared and he identified a large performance difference between
the performance he calculated for AlphaSector in 2008 as compared to the performance of the
same fund advertised by F-Squared and Virtus.
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152.

According to the SEC complaint, this employee – in just a few days of work –

“discovered the calculation error that had substantially inflated AlphSector’s purported preSeptember 2008 track record.”
153.

In addition to these materially false and misleading affirmative statements during

the Class Period, Defendants made a number of materially false and misleading omissions
regarding AlphaSector’s historic track record. As discussed, Defendants quietly eliminated the
above-referenced information from Registration Statements and Prospectuses filed after October
2013, and from other public statements made after October 2013.
154.

For example, the Registration Statement and Prospectuses for AlphaSector funds

issued on October 4, 2013, January 27, 2014, September 12, 2014, and November 12, 2014 do not
have any discussion of the 2001 to 2008 track record, eliminate references to “inception date,” and
do not make comparisons between AlphaSector’s purported pre-October 2008 performance and
the pre-October 2008 performance of the S&P 500 Index. Nowhere in those documents do
Defendants state that this information had been removed because it was now known to be
materially false, nor do they reference the critical facts, each of which they were personally aware,
that (i) F-Squared was being investigated by the SEC, (ii) prior statements in Virtus’s publicly
disseminated materials regarding the AlphaSector funds were materially false and misleading
because the pre-October 2008 performance track record was actually backtested only and the
AlphaSector strategy did not even exist prior to October 2008, (iii) even the backtested
hypothetical results were inaccurate and grossly inflated, and that (iv) Virtus was aware that FSquared had made materially false and misleading statements regarding the AlphaSector funds.
This information would have been material to reasonable investors and the omission of this
information rendered Virtus’s public statements materially false and misleading.
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B.

False and Misleading Statements and Omissions Regarding Virtus’s
Selection And Monitoring of Managers And Sub-advisers

155.

Throughout the Class Period, in multiple public filings with the SEC and other

public statements, Virtus and the Defendants touted the disciplined way in which it selected its
sub-advisers, such as F-Squared and Howard Present. For example, in a Citigroup U.S. Financial
Services Conference, dated March 5, 2013, Defendant Aylward cheer-leaded Virtus’s selection
and oversight of advisers. Aylward stated:
We’re disciplined in our selection of high-caliber managers, our product
oversight and development of new products . . .
As a multi-manager, the identification and selection of investment
managers, both affiliates and subadvisers, is critical to the business. We
have been successful because we identify high-quality teams with the
distinctive strategies and carefully consider the cultural fit of the manager.
While we start by identifying the capabilities we’re looking for and then
identify the best manager to provide the strategy, whether it's from an
existing affiliated manager, a current subadviser or a new manager. We have
been successful developing partnerships by using this focused approach.
Our relationship with Vontobel, for example, began with 2 funds in less
than $150 million of assets, and we've grown that to over $9 billion. We had
a similar success with another subadviser, F-Squared, which began
managing 1 fund for us 3 years ago, and we have sold more than $6 billion
in their strategies to date.
156.

In a June 11, 2014 Morgan Stanley conference, Aylward again noted that “We are

disciplined in our selection of high-caliber managers.”
157.

Throughout the Class Period, Virtus also represented to its shareholders in each of

its Forms 10-K that it was careful and rigorous in the way that it monitored its funds and managers.
For example, Virtus’s Form 10-K filed March 1, 2013 states:
We monitor the quality of the affiliated managers and unaffiliated
subadvisers products by assessing their performance, style, consistency and
the discipline with which they apply their investment process.
158.

Similarly, VIP’s Forms 10-K filed February 24, 2014 and March 2, 2015 state “We

monitor the quality of our managers’ services by assessing their performance, style, consistency
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and the discipline with which they apply their investment process.” On March 5, 2013, Defendant
Alyward attended a Citigroup U.S. Financial Services Conference, where he stated:
We also have a disciplined approach to performance oversight to maintain
the quality of our investment strategies and a selective product development
process that focuses on introducing distinctive new strategies to ensure a
product portfolio that is relevant to the current needs of clients.
159.

In his powerpoint presentation which accompanied his statements at the Citigroup

conference Alyward noted that Virtus offered a:


“Disciplined product oversight and development.”



“Focused approach to identifying distinctive, high-quality teams”



“Disciplined approach to managing performance”



“Rigorous monitoring of strategies’ quality, consistency with investment style.”

160.

In Virtus’s presentation accompanying Alyward’s interview at the Citigroup

conference and in a Morgan Stanley Financial Conference dated June 12, 2013, the Company listed
several important points regarding its monitoring of its subadvisers and their strategies:


“Manager selection, performance oversight and product development are
key elements of our approach”



“Focused approach to identifying distinctive, high-quality teams”



“Rigorous monitoring of strategies quality, consistency with investment style”

161.

In Virtus’s prospectus filed September 12, 2013 in conjunction with its secondary

offering of common stock, the Company stated:
We monitor the quality of our products by assessing the managers’
performance, style, consistency and the discipline with which they apply
their investment process. . . . Our primary objective is to provide clients
with a diverse offering of high-quality investment capabilities from the best
managers.
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162.

In Virtus’s presentation for the Morgan Stanley Financials Conference dated June

11, 2014, the Company stated that it offered a “Disciplined product oversight and development.”
163.

These statement were materially false and misleading for the reasons discussed

above. At no points was Virtus “rigorous” or “disciplined” in monitoring Present or F-Squared,
who were in no way “high quality.” Indeed, as early as December 2012, Virtus management knew
that the most important selling point of the AlphaSector funds was fabricated but told their sales
force to ignore the problem and commanded that the truth be “swept under the rug.”
164.

Nonetheless, Virtus did not inform regulators or its clients, did not suspend or fire

F-Squared and did not even conduct an investigation into F-Squared. In October 2013, Virtus was
again alerted, but this time by Howard Present himself, that the SEC was investigating F-Squared
and that the AlphaSector track record could not be used in future materials. Once again, Virtus
and Defendants refused to inform its investors, investigate the matter further, or fire or suspend
Howard Present and F-Squared.

Ultimately, and directly contrary to Defendants’ public

statements, Virtus never monitored F-Squared and Howard Present for as long as they were
employed as a subadviser with the Company.
C.

False and Misleading Statements Regarding Virtus’s Revenue

165.

During the Class Period, Defendants made a number of materially false and

misleading statements or omissions relating to the cause of its steadily rising revenues. For
example, in Virtus’s January 30, 2013 conference call, Alyward stated:
Our portfolio managers continued to deliver strong relative investment
performance, and this performance has been a key driver of our high level
of sales and net flows. At year end, 95% of our Morningstar-rated assets
were in 3-, 4-, and 5-star funds. 10 of those funds, with 73% of our assets,
were rated as 5-star funds.
166.

This statement was materially false and misleading because the real “driver”

of sales and net flows was Virtus’s intentionally false marketing campaign focused on a fabricated
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historical performance record that was designed to mislead investors into purchasing its flagship
AlphaSector product.

Indeed, the actual live investment performance of Virtus’s AlphaSector

funds, from September 2008 to present, performed considerably worse than the S&P 500 index
over the same period.
167.

Additionally in Virtus’s 2012 Form 10-K filed March 1, 2013 and signed by

Defendants Alyward and Angerthal, the Company stated:
In 2012, total revenue increased 36.9% to $280.1 million from $204.7
million in 2011. Revenues increased in 2012 as compared with 2011
primarily as a result of an increase in average assets and an increase in
average management fee rates. Average assets under management, which
corresponds to the Company’s fee-earning asset levels, was $39.6 billion
for the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of 20.1% from $33.0
billion for the year ended December 31, 2011. Operating income increased
by 334.8% from $13.9 million in 2011 to $60.4 million in 2012, primarily
due to increased revenues driven by higher levels of average assets under
management.
168.

Additionally, on the July 31, 2013 conference call, Alyward stated:
First, we reported our highest levels of revenues and operating earnings and
an increase in our operating margin. The growth in revenues reflect the
cumulative benefit of our growing asset levels from continued strong net
flows.

169.

These statements were materially false and misleading, because Virtus’s

management refused to explain that Virtus’s assets under management and performance fees were
increasing due to the falsified track record of its flagship product, and not by any legitimate means.
170.

Furthermore, throughout the Class Period Defendants made false and/or misleading

statements in their annual filings with the SEC regarding AlphaSector’s ability to make material
and sustained contributions to Virtus’s revenue. In its Forms 10-K throughout the Class Period,
Virtus displayed in a table the assets under management and advisory fees of each of the five
Virtus AlphaSector funds. For example in its 2012 Form 10-K filed on March 1, 2013, Virtus
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noted that Virtus’s Premium AlphaSector fund had assets of $3.574 billion and took advisory fees
on those assets of 1.10%. Virtus also displayed in each of its Forms 10-K through the Class Period
that its Virtus Premium AlphaSector Fund made a material contribution to the Company’s overall
revenue. For example, in its 2014 Form 10-K filed March 2, 2015, the Company noted that Virtus
Premium AlphaSector Fund’s “[i]nvestment management, administration and transfer fees”
equaled $61.56 million which accounted for 14% of Virtus’s “total revenues.”

Even without

considering the other four funds, this one AlphaSector fund was an incredible driver of Virtus’s
overall revenue generation.
171.

These metrics were materially false and misleading when made because Virtus

failed to disclose that it (1) engaged in unlawful practices to artificially increase its AlphaSector
fee revenue which made up a material amount of Virtus’ overall revenue; (2) presented a
misleading picture of the success, quality, marketability, and sustainability of its flagship product;
(3) that it was withholding information regarding deficiencies in its flagship products and the
investment advisor which oversaw and managed these products all of which was critical to
maintaining the revenue and fund inflows; and (4) materially inflated its reported financial results.
These false and misleading statements concealed the Company’s true profitability and
sustainability of Virtus’ reported revenues, and concealed known risks that the Company’s
fraudulent performance record and use of a deficient advisor that was poorly monitored exposed
the Company to regulatory action, government and private lawsuits, adverse publicity, and the loss
of current and future clients and fund outflows.
D.

False and Misleading Statements about the Technical and Proprietary
Aspects of the AlphaSector Model

172.

One of the central selling points of Virtus’s AlphaSector funds was the model that

purportedly generated AlphaSector’s tremendous performance. Throughout the Class Period and
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years prior, Virtus claimed that the model used to generate AlphaSector’s 2001 to 2008 track
record was “dynamic” and “analytical” and “proprietary” such that it could not be replicated and
investors were buying a truly unique product. In its first press release touting the adoption of
AlphaSector, Virtus called it a “dynamic approach to equity investing.” This was why Virtus could
charge the highest fees for AlphaSector funds out of the over 50 products that it offered. For
example, Virtus’s Registration Statement filed with the SEC on January 25, 2013 and its
accompanying Prospectus filed January 31, 2013 stated that:
The AlphaSectorSM Rotation Index (ASRX) is an active public index
published by NASDAQ and designed to outperform the S&P 500® Index
while also seeking to manage downside risk and lower overall volatility. It
is an equal weighted index comprised of a limited number of sector-based
exchange-traded funds (“ETFs”) and a short-term Treasury bond ETF as a
cash proxy. The ETFs are selected monthly based on the output of a
proprietary analytical model that evaluates sector trends while adjusting for
changing levels of volatility.
***
The Premium AlphaSectorSM Index (ASRP) is an active public index
published by NASDAQ and designed to outperform the S&P 500® Index
while also seeking to manage downside risk and lower overall volatility. It
is an equal weighted index comprised of a limited number of sector-based
exchange traded funds (ETFs) and a short-term Treasury bond ETF as a
cash proxy. The ETFs are selected weekly based on the output of a
proprietary analytical model that evaluates sector trends while adjusting for
changing levels of volatility.
Moreover, these statements were incorporated by reference in multiple Summary Prospectuses
filed January 31, 2013 and June 13, 2013.
173.

Additionally, each of the Summary Prospectuses dated January 31, 2013 and June

13, 2013 stated:
The [AlphaSector] fund allocates net assets to multiple asset classes
including: U.S. Equity, International Equity, Fixed Income, and Alternative.
Allocations within each asset class are based on proprietary quantitative
models.
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174.

These statements were materially false and misleading. In the December 22, 2014

Cease and Desist Order, F-Squared admitted that as part of its “willful violations” of securities
laws its “advertisements emphasized algorithmic-based models that purportedly supported both
the hypothetical and actual track record beginning . . . but in reality the AlphaSector track record
for the period April 2001 to June 2008 was based only on changes in 41-week and 61-week simple
moving averages.” In other words, the complicated, proprietary, and dynamic model that made
investors believe that they were investing in something special was in actuality a common,
everyday trader’s tool. Since a simple moving average is formed by computing the average price
of a security over a specific number of periods, it cannot be a proprietary analytical or quantitative
model.
E.

False and Misleading Statements and Omissions Regarding Legal and
Regulatory Matters

175.

In its Forms 10-K filed February 24, 2014, February 26, 2014, October 27, 2014,

and March 2, 2015 and Forms 10-Q filed November 4, 2013, May 7, 2014, July 29, 2014,
November 7, 2014, singed by Defendants Angerthal and Alyward, Virtus stated that the:
[O]utcomes of its legal or regulatory matters are not likely, either
individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on its
consolidated financial condition.
176.

These and other similar statements were materially false and misleading and

Defendants made a number of material omissions during the Class Period designed to conceal the
risks that the F-Squared issues posed to the Company. As discussed above, Defendants also
deliberately downplayed any risk to Virtus related to the issues surrounding F-Squared.
Defendants did so despite knowing that they had made materially false and misleading statements
about AlphaSector and that the F-Squared issues were almost certainly going to have negative
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consequences for the Company’s flagship product, its assets under management, and its revenues,
as well as negative legal and regulatory consequences.
VII.

LOSS CAUSATION
177.

Defendants’ wrongful conduct, as alleged herein, directly and proximately caused

Plaintiff and the Class to suffer substantial losses. As set forth above, the price of Virtus’s common
stock significantly declined (causing investors’ losses) when Virtus and Defendants’
misrepresentations, and/or the information alleged herein to have been concealed from the market,
and/or the effects thereof, were revealed, and/or the risks that had been fraudulently concealed
materialized.

Specifically, Virtus and the Defendants’ false and misleading statements

misrepresented the performance history of some of its flagship products, and investors suffered
losses as the price of Virtus stock declined when those statements were corrected and the risks
concealed by them materialized, including on the dates that the Company’s statements claiming
there was no risk of legal or regulatory action were revealed to be false. Accordingly, as a result
of their purchases of Virtus’s common stock during the Class Period, Plaintiff and other members
of the Class suffered economic loss, i.e., damages under the federal securities laws.
VIII. APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE: FRAUD ON THE
MARKET DOCTRINE
178.

At all relevant times, the market for Virtus’s securities was efficient for the

following reasons, among others:
a. The Company’s securities were actively traded on the NASDAQ, a highly efficient
market;
b. Virtus common stock traded at a significant daily trading volume;
c. As a regulated issuer, the Company filed periodic public reports with the SEC;
d. Virtus was followed by numerous securities analysts, who issued a significant
number of reports on Virtus during the Class Period;
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e. Virtus was eligible to register securities and did using Form S-3; and
f. Virtus communicated with investors via established market communication
mechanisms, including the regular issuance of press releases and conference calls
with analysts and investors.
179.

As a result, the market for Virtus’s securities promptly digested current information

with respect to Virtus from all publicly available sources and reflected such information in the
price of those securities. Accordingly, purchasers of Virtus’s publicly traded securities during the
Class Period suffered similar injury through their purchases of such securities at artificially inflated
prices, and a presumption of reliance applies.
IX.

INAPPLICABILITY OF STATUTORY SAFE HARBOR AND
BESPEAKS CAUTION DOCTRINE
180.

The statutory safe harbor and/or bespeaks caution doctrine applicable to forward-

looking statements under certain circumstances does not apply to any of the false and misleading
statements pleaded herein. None of the statements at issue were “forward-looking” when made,
and even to the extent that any such statements might be construed as forward-looking, they were
not accompanied by meaningful cautionary language identifying important facts that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those in the statements. Alternatively, to the extent that the
statutory safe harbor may apply to any such statements, Defendants remain liable because at the
time they were made the speaker actually knew the statement was false or misleading or the
statement was authorized and/or approved by an executive officer of Virtus who actually knew
that it was false or misleading when made.
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EXCHANGE ACT COUNTS
COUNT ONE
Violation of § 10(B) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
Against Virtus and the Executive Defendants
181.

Plaintiffs reallege every allegation set forth above as if fully set forth herein.

182.

During the Class Period, Virtus and the Executive Defendants carried out a plan,

scheme and course of conduct which was intended to and, throughout the Class Period, did: (i)
deceive the investing public, including Lead Plaintiff and other Class members, as alleged herein;
and (ii) caused Lead Plaintiff and other members of the Class to purchase Virtus common stock at
artificially inflated prices. In furtherance of this unlawful scheme, plan and course of conduct,
these Defendants, and each of them, took the actions set forth herein.
183.

Virtus and the Executive Defendants: (i) employed devices, schemes, and artifices

to defraud; (ii) made untrue statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts
necessary to make the statements not misleading; and (iii) engaged in acts, practices, and a course
of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s common
stock in an effort to maintain artificially high market prices for Virtus common stock in violation
of §10(b) and Rule 10b-5.
184.

Virtus and the Executive Defendants, individually and in concert, directly and

indirectly, by the use, means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails,
engaged in a continuous course of conduct to conceal adverse material information about
AlphaSector’s falsely inflated performance track record and the oversight of its sub-adviser FSquared, as specified herein. These Defendants had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations
and omissions of material facts set forth herein, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth, in
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that they failed to ascertain and to disclose such facts, even though such facts were available to
them.
185.

As a direct and proximate result of Virtus and the Executive Defendants’ wrongful

conduct, Plaintiffs and other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their
purchases or acquisitions of Virtus common stock during the Class Period.
COUNT TWO
Violation of § 20(a) of the Exchange Act
Against the Executive Defendants
186.

Plaintiffs reallege every allegation set forth above as if fully set forth herein.

187.

The Executive Defendants were controlling persons of VIP and its affiliated and

wholly owned companies during the Class Period due (among other reasons alleged herein) to their
executive positions within VIP, VOT, and VIA; their direct involvement in the day-to-day business
and operations of these entities, including the preparation of financial statements and public filings,
speaking to investors and analysts on quarterly and year-end conference calls and investor
presentations and press releases; their oversight of the distribution of prospectuses and marketing
materials regarding Virtus’s flagship product, the AlphaSector funds, to investors; their
participation in board meetings concerning overseeing diligence, monitoring and approval of the
AlphaSector funds and the appropriateness of F-Squared as a subdadvisor; and/or their
participation in the preparation, approval, and dissemination of the false and misleading
registration statements, prospectuses, summary prospectuses, and other marketing materials
touting the falsified track record of the AlphaSector funds.
188.

Defendant Alyward was a control person of VIP by, among other things, virtue of

his position with Virtus and its affiliated companies, his ownership of stock, his regular
participation in Virtus conference calls where he spoke on behalf of the Company to investors and
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analysts, and his signing of Virtus’s public filings. Aylward is and at all relevant times was the
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of Virtus, and certified the truth and accuracy of
Virtus’s public filings throughout the Class Period. He was also the President, Chairman and
Director of VIA and the President and Trustee of VOT. As President and a Trustee of VOT,
Aylward was also required to oversee and co-signed the sub-advisory agreement between VIA and
F-Squared, was required to oversee Virtus’s AlphaSector investments, and signed VOT’s
registration statements and prospectuses throughout the Class Period. Alyward regularly attended
the quarterly due diligence meetings of VOT signing off on the appropriateness of the AlphaSector
investments and F-Squared as a subadvisor. Alyward owned a substantial block of Virtus stock,
approximately 164,000 shares or 1.8% of the Company. Alyward certified the truth and accuracy
of Virtus’s Forms 10-K and 10-Q throughout the class period (which discussed the purported
rigorous monitoring of subadvisors such as F-Squared) for their truth and accuracy as well as
VOT’s registration statements touting AlphaSector’s falsified track record.
189.

Defendant Angerthal was a control person of VIP by, among other things, virtue of

his position within VIP and its affiliated companies, his ownership of stock, his regular
participation in Virtus conference calls where he spoke on behalf of the Company to investors and
analysts discussing the purported explosive and sustainable revenue attributable to the AlphaSector
funds, and his signing and certification of the truth and accuracy of Virtus’s public filings.
Angerthal is and at all relevant times was the Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer of Virtus and according to Virtus’s public filings, was one of “the most highly
compensated executive officers” of the Company. As the CFO of Virtus, he certified the truth and
accuracy of Virtus’s public filings throughout the Class Period. He was also the Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer, Director and a control person of VIA. During the Class Period, Angerthal
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owned approximately 45,000 shares of Virtus common stock or close to 1% of the shares
outstanding.
190.

Defendant Cerutti was a control person of VIP by, among other things, virtue of his

position within VIP and its affiliated companies, his ownership of stock, and his overall ability to
direct the dissemination of fraudulent information concerning Virtus and its products to investors.
As the Executive Vice President and Head of Distribution for Virtus, according to Virtus’s public
filings, Cerutti was one of the “most highly compensated executive officers” in the Company. He
was also the former President of VP Distributors, LLC, the underwriter for VOT. Prior to his
unloading of 34% of his holdings in Virtus just before the fraud started to be revealed, Cerutti
owned a significant amount of stock, approximately 34,000 shares. In the December 14, 2012
Boca Meeting, while Alyward was on the call, Cerutti, directed Virtus’s salesforce that they needed
to ignore the “contradict[ions]” between what Present was saying that the AlphaSector track record
was live-tested and Batchelar’s comment that it was backtested only and to go out and sell the
product anyway. Similarly in the all hands on deck conference call in October 2013, Cerutti told
numerous employees, while Alyward was on the call, that they had to “destroy” documents
evidencing AlphaSector’s fraudulent track record, including emails. Given that on numerous
occasions Cerutti told dozens of Virtus employees to lie about one of the most important products
of the Company directly in front of the CEO (who was unwilling or unable to stop him), there can
be no question that Cerutti was a control person of Virtus.
191.

Defendant Waltman was a control person of VIP by, among other things, virtue of

his position within VIP and its affiliated companies, his ownership of stock, his position as a
spokesman of the Company, his position as the person in charge of the initial and ongoing diligence
of Virtus’s products, including AlphaSector funds, and the dissemination of this diligence for the
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products’ approval by Virtus’s trustees, and his participation in board meetings to help approve
and monitor Virtus products, including the AlphaSector funds. As the Executive Vice President
and Head of Product Management of Virtus, Waltman was one of the “most highly compensated
executive officers” of the Company. Defendant Waltman was also the Executive Vice President,
Director and a control person of VIA. As the Senior Vice President and control person of VOT,
Waltman co-signed the subadvisory agreement between VIA and F-Squared. In conjunction with
this position, Waltman oversaw the initial and ongoing diligence of the AlphaSector funds,
presented them to the trustees of Virtus for the continued sign-off of the AlphaSector products and
Howard Present as their subadvisor, and regularly attended quarterly meetings of Virtus trustees
to present due diligence on the AlphaSector funds and ensure that the products were approved.
192.

Prior to his unloading of 28% of his holdings in Virtus just before the fraud started

to be revealed, Waltman owned a significant amount of stock, approximately 38,000 shares.
Waltman was authorized to speak on behalf of the Company and from the very beginning of
Virtus’s adoption of AlphaSector was quoted in press releases concerning the quality of the funds
and F-Squared. When Virtus announced its adoption of AlphaSector and its partnership with FSquared on October 5, 2009, Waltman stated “AlphaSector Index-based funds offer an
uncomplicated approach to equity investing that is designed to control risk in down markets, while
participating or outperforming in up markets.” When Virtus launched the Virtus Premium
AlphaSector fund on July 12, 2010, in a press release for the Company, Waltman noted “Financial
advisers recognize that our AlphaSector strategies provide clients what they are looking for in a
post-2008 investment era – the flexibility to allocate to cash in downward trending markets while
remaining invested in upward trending markets.” And in a May 11, 2015 press release, Waltman
discussed the replacement of F-Squared as a sub-advisor with Dorsey Wright & Associates, noting
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that “[w]ith their experience in price momentum strategies, Dorsey Wright is an ideal partner for
Virtus and they share our commitment to producing quality outcomes for clients.” Because
Waltman was the key spokesman for the Company concerning the flagship product of Virtus, along
with his formal position and other responsibilities and oversight of the due diligence of
AlphaSector, there can be no question that he was a control person of Virtus.
193.

As a direct and proximate cause of Virtus’s and the Executive Defendants wrongful

conduct as set forth in this Count, Lead Plaintiff and other members of the Class suffered damages
in connection with their purchases of Virtus securities during the Class Period.
COUNT THREE
Violation of § 10(b) of the Exchange Act
Against VOT
194.

Plaintiffs reallege every allegation set forth above as if fully set forth herein.

195.

During the Class Period, VOT carried out a plan, scheme and course of conduct

which was intended to and, throughout the Class Period, did: (i) deceive the investing public,
including Lead Plaintiff and other Class members, as alleged herein; and (ii) caused Lead Plaintiff
and other members of the Class to purchase Virtus common stock at artificially inflated prices. In
furtherance of this unlawful scheme, plan and course of conduct, this defendant took the actions
set forth herein.
196.

VOT: (i) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (ii) made untrue

statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the statements
not misleading; and (iii) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business which operated as a
fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s common stock in an effort to maintain
artificially high market prices for Virtus common stock in violation of §10(b) and Rule 10b-5.
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197.

VOT individually and in concert, directly and indirectly, by the use, means or

instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails, engaged in a continuous course of
conduct to conceal adverse material information about AlphaSector’s falsely inflated performance
track record and the oversight of its sub-adviser F-Squared, as specified herein. This Defendant
had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and omissions of material facts set forth herein, or
acted with reckless disregard for the truth, in that it failed to ascertain and to disclose such facts,
even though such facts were available to it.
198.

As a direct and proximate result of VOT’s wrongful conduct, Plaintiffs and other

members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their purchases or acquisitions of Virtus
common stock during the Class Period.
X.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for relief and judgment, as follows:
a) Declaring this action to be a proper class action pursuant to Rule 23(a) and 23(b)(3)
of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the Class defined herein;
b) Declaring and determining that Defendants violated the federal securities laws as
charged above;
c) Awarding Plaintiffs and the Class compensatory damages;
d) Awarding Plaintiffs and the Class pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, as well as
reasonable attorneys’ fees, expert witness fees and other costs; and
e) Awarding such other relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

XI.

JURY TRIAL DEMAND
Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiffs hereby demand

a trial by jury in this action of all issues so triable.
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Dated: August 21, 2015
Respectfully submitted,
BERNSTEIN LITOWITZ BERGER &
GROSSMANN LLP
By:
/s/ John C. Browne
John C. Browne
David J. Schwartz
1285 Avenue of the Americas
New York, New York 10019
Tel: (212) 554-1400
Fax: (212) 554-1444
Email: johnb@blbglaw.com
david.schwartz@blbglaw.com
LABATON SUCHAROW LLP
Eric J. Belfi
Michael H. Rogers
140 Broadway
New York, New York 10005
Tel: (212) 907-0700
Fax: (212) 818-0477
Email: ebelfi@labaton.com
mrogers@labaton.com
Co-Lead Counsel and Attorneys for Lead
Plaintiff the Arkansas Teacher Retirement
System
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